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JOHN DEERE

Nothing Runs Like a Deere




WHAT HAPPENS WHEN A FLEET OF TECHNOLOGICALLY
ADVANCED JOHN IDEERE EQUIPMENT GOES TO WORK ON
THE FERTILE SOIL OF A MASSIVE FARM LIKE THIS ONE IN THE
BRAZILIAN STATE OF MATO GROSSO? THESE BRAZILIAN-
BUILT JOHN DEERE 7505 TRACTORS AND 1550 COMBINES
ARE BRINGING UNPARALLELED PRODUCTIVITY TO OUR
FARMER CUSTOMERS THERE. THE 25 COMBINES SHOWN
HERE ARE HARVESTING SOYBEANS, WHILE THE TRAILING 18
TRACTORS ARE PULLING PRECISION JOHN DDEERE PLANTERS,

WHICH ARE SOWING A COTTON CROP.

WINNING NEW CUSTOMERS. THE ALL-NEW GATOR HPX HIGH-PERFORMANCE VEHICLE, AT LEFT, IS JOHN DEERE’S
LARGEST UTILITY VEHICLE AND THE FIRST WiTH ALL-WHEEL DRIVE, THE BuUCK EXT MODEL, AT CENTER, 1S
DDEERE’S FIRST ENTRY IN THE FAST-GROWING ALL-TERRAIN FIELD. WITH ITS MORE COMPACT SIZE, THE ALL-NEW
GATOR CS MODEL IS ALSO SPECIALLY DESIGNED TO MEET THE INDIVIDUAL LIFESTYLE NEEDS OF CUSTOMERS,

ALONG WITH MANY OTHER PRODUCTS COMING TO MARKET IN 2004, THE NEW VEHICLES ARE EXPECTED TO

HELP DRIVE SALES AND DRAW NEW CUSTOMERS TO THE JOHN DEERE BRAND IN THE YEAR AHEAD.

Troesm : T "

JoHN DEERE MANAGEMENT TEAM: From left, Dave Everitt, John [enkins, Sam Allen, [im Jenkins, Bob Lane, Nate Jones, Pierre Leroy and H.]. Markley




CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE

ACTIONS TO BUILD GREAT BUSINESS
PRODUCING SOLID RESULTS

EFFORTS TARGETING IMPROVED PERFORMANCE
DRIVE MAJOR GAINS IN PROFIT.

NEW CUSTOMERS IN LARGE NUMBERS DRAWN TO
JOHN DEERE BRAND.

CONSTRUCTION AND FORESTRY, COMMERCIAL AND
CONSUMER MARKETS SHOW STRENGTH.

Our actions to build a great business are starting to produce
real results. Last year, new products and better market conditions
led to higher sales and a major boost in earnings. Better markets

in the construction, forestry, and commercial and consumer sectors
aided our performance. John Deere employees have made a big
impact, too. Their ongoing efforts to exceed customer expectations,
while keeping a tight rein on costs and asset levels, are accounting

for a good deal of our success.

Last year, fiscal 2003, John Deere reported net income of $643
million on total net sales and revenues of $15.5 billion. Compared
with the previous year, earnings doubled on an 11 percent gain in

revenue. Equipment sales were up 14 percent,
qup I p

Againin 2003, earnings were restrained by our actions to more
closely align LS. farm machinery production with retail sales. Asa
result, we're in a prime position to tailor our products exactly as pre-
scribed by customers. This is the centerpiece of our asset-management

efforts and the way John Deere plans to do business in the future.

SERVING NEW CUSTOMERS WORLDWIDE

New customers, who are coming to the John Deere brand in large
numbers, are evidence of our strengthening global competitive posi-
tion. That was never more true than in 2003 due in large part to the
highly successful debut of the 100-series lawn tractors. Available at
both John Deere dealers and Home Depot stores, the widely hon-

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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ored line anchored last year's $519 million sales rise in the commer-
cial and consumer equipment division. Deere saw a substantial mar-
ket-share gain in riding lawn equipment last year and also improved its

position in the growing small-tractor market.

Similarly, enthusiastic customer response to new construction
products, largely in connection with the replacement of aging fleets,
has sparked a dramatic turnaround in our construction and forestry
business. C&F sales increased 24 percent for the year and operating
profitrose by more than $200 million. In the forestry sector, John Deere
extended its global leadership with a solid recovery in sales and the

introduction of an important new line of harvesters and forwarders.

More and more customers worldwide are being drawn to John
Deere products. Sales outside of the U.S. and Canada, which
had a significant increase in 2003, accounted for fully 45 percent
of our worldwide total in farm machinery. Last fall's introduction
of technologically advanced combine harvesters and large tractors is
expected to bring the John Deere brand to an even wider audience
in the year ahead. Key among the new products is a smaller combine
with advanced STS harvesting technology and new row-crop tractors

featuring an infinitely variable transmission.

Our credit operations — which contributed almost half of last
year's profit companywide — represent a vital part of our ongoing
success. Credit's net income rose to a record $311 million as its

managed portfolio increased by 1 billion.
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BUILDING A GREAT BUSINESS

John Deere employees worldwide are focused on building a
great business — a business in which sustainable improvements
reflect a high degree of customer satisfaction and result in superior
returns for investors. Recent actions aimed at better asset and

operating efficiency are helping bring these goals within reach.

We're making good progress managing expenses in spite of
increased pension and health-care costs. John Deere product cost was
down more than 3 percent last year, bringing the reduction over
the last two years to some 7 percent. Among the key steps being
taken, we’re working with our suppliers to reduce complexity and
cost during the new-product design phase. By allowing us to build on
long-term, sustainable partnerships, this effort holds great promise

for future savings.

Important projects aimed at improved asset control are progress-
ing on schedule, In 2003, trade receivables and inventory levels
declined by $120 million ($345 million on a constant-exchange
basis). This brought the total balance-sheet reduction over the last
three years to more than $700 million. More significant yet, trade
receivables ended the year at their lowest point in more than a
decade. Across our equipment operations, advances in order
fulfillment have led to an improvement in asset turns, from 1.6
times in 2002 to 1.9 times in 2003.

A totally new compensation and rewards system, which began
taking effect in 2003, is supporting the attainment of our goals
and promoting true alignment among the interests of customers,
employees and investors. Thousands of management employees
at all levels are now eligible for a bonus payable when our service to
customers earns a return above the cost of capital over a multi-year
period. Also, yearly bonus payments for salaried employees
are being directly linked to our operating-return metrics. Targets
adjust in line with market conditions and have been ratcheted

upward in most cases.

With last year's performance, we are making steady progress on
the financial goals associated with our focus on cost and asset disci-
pline. These goals include a 20 percent mid-cycle (normal) operating
return on operating assets (OROA) and consistent returns above our
cost of capital, resulting in positive SVA, or Shareholder Value Added.

THROUGH ITS TIMBERJACK AND DEERE-BRAND PRODUCT LINES,
JOHN DEERE IS THE WORLD LEADER IN FORESTRY EQUIPMENT.
THE ENVIRONMENTALLY-SENSITIVE TIMBERJACK 1270D
HMARVESTER SHOWN HERE USES THE TECHNOLOGICALLY ADVANCED

“CUT-TO-LENGTH” SYSTEM TO IMPROVE PRODUCTIVITY.

In 2003, our equipment operations earned an OROA of only
10.2 percent at 91 percent of normal volumes, and, regrettably,
SVA was still negative on an enterprise level. This was clearly short
of our aspirations. However, SVA improved by more than $400 mil-
lion for the year and was more than $1 billion higher than in 2001,
(For more on our OROA and SVA performance, see chart below and pp. 6-7.)

PURSUING DISCIPLINED GROWTH

Cost management and asset control are important. But growth
will define our destiny. John Deere is continuing to invest in better
understanding our customers and in the products and services they

want for tomorrow.

In this regard, we have significantly advanced our understanding
of the growing lifestyle market for innovative products and the
power of the John Deere brand. We see a tremendous opportunity
in serving this largely affluent group of customers who enjoy and
take great pride in their land and acreage. They value the total “John
Deere Experience” associated with tractorsand implements tailored

to theirneeds and exciting vehicles suchas our all-new Gator line.
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OROA: MEASURING A GREAT BUSINESS
OVER THE CYCLE

THE GOAL FOR JOHN DEERE’S EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS 1S
A 20% OROA (OPERATING RETURN ON OPERATING
ASSETS) AT NORMAL, OR MID-CYCLE, SALES VOLUMES. THE
OROA TARGET AT ANY PARTICULAR TIME DEPENDS ON
MARKET CONDITIONS. AT THE BOTTOM OF THE CYCLE —
GENERALLY ABOUT 80% OF NORMAL —THE OROA
TARGET IS 12%. HOWEVER, 28% IS THE GOAL WHEN

THE CYCLE HITS A TYPICAL CREST OF 120% OF NORMAL.

1
1
AT THE PEAK OF THE LAST CYCLE, IN 1997, DEERE HAD AN i
OROA OF APPROXIMATELY 18%. THIS MEANS WE ASPIRETO J
PERFORM BETTER ON AVERAGE THAN OUR PREVIOUS BEST.




THE EXCITING NEW JOHN DEERE 5020-SERIES FULL-FRAME

TRACTORS ARE AIMED AT MID-SIZE FARMS, ESPECIALLY IN EUROPE

AND AUSTRALIA. WITH FEATURES AND ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY
] TYPICALLY SEEN ON LARGER MODELS, THE NEW TRACTORS ARE

EXPECTED TO HELP BROADEN DEERE’S GLOBAL CUSTOMER BASE,

N

International expansion in all our divisions continues to present
an especially promising growth platform. Last year, our sales outside
of the U.S. and Canada — which first crossed the $3 billion thresh- TALL ASPIRATIONS

old in 2002 — exceeded $4 billion. Any way you look at it, John Deere has ambitious goals.

. i ) Fortunately, we also have a strong, well-demonstrated commitment
Our focus on winning new agricultural customers in Europe

. . . to meeting them and a formidable slate of attributes to help us get
continues to produce solid results. Last year, positive response

to hew tractors and forage harvesters led to higher sales in key the job done well. Deere people are unparalleled in their dedication

) . . and teamwork. Our dealers are a big reason so many farmers, con-
markets, including the regions of Central and Eastern Europe. /

struction contractors and homeowners have joined the ranks of loyal

Also supporting improved global sales was the shipment of 100

John Deere cotton pickers to Turkmenistan, as well as new market- John Deere customers. Our products, of course, have stood the test

A ) o . . ) of time like no other, yet continue to set ever-higher standards for
ing relationships in Russia and Turkey. Elsewhere, sales in Argentina * §

. . e . style, productivity and innovation.
and Australia rebounded sharply while our Brazilian operations Y& p Y

had another banner year. Thanks to these many attributes, we're confident of our abilit
Y ) Y

. . . . R . to put our plans into effect. Our progress to date gives us consider-
Our international financing capabilities are growing, too.

. . . able room for optimism.
With last year's addition of Portugal, John Deere Credit now P
has a presence in 13 countries outside of the U.S. and Canada. To those we are privileged to serve — to our investors, customers,
. . . Y . employees, dealers, and neighbors — we’re grateful for your contin-
We are seeking growth that is ambitious yet disciplined. This proyees, ’ g & ¥

includes growth that logically builds on our many strengths while uing support. Be assured we will keep working to make John Deere

. . . . a business as great as its products and a great investment to match.
creating value beyond what our traditional equipment and finance

operations can provide on their own.
Sincerely, December 22, 2003

A prime example of this focus in the United States is John Deere
Landscapes, which marked its second full year of operation in 2003
with both higher sales and profit. Landscapes serves the needs of
John Deere customers who are grounds-care professionals with
irrigation, nursery, related supplies, and financing through a network

of more than 200 store locations. RobertW. Lane

THE AWARD-WINNING JOHN DEERE 2210 COMPACT UTILITY
TRACTOR TOOK THE CONSUMER MARKET BY STORM IN 2003.
WITH THE ADVANTAGES OF LARGER TRACTORS IN A SMALLER,
VALUE-PRICED PACKAGE, DEERE’S MOST COMPACT TRACTOR

MODEL IS EASY TO USE, VERSATILE AND JOHN DEERE-RELIABLE.




DEERE ENTERPRISE SHAREHOLDER VALUE ADDED - SVA (MM)
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Our Aspiration: Sustainable, positive SVA
reflecting superior “John Deere Experiences”

for customers and employees worldwide.
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SVA: FOCUSING ON SUSTAINABLE PERFORMANCE

SHAREHOLDER VALUE ADDED (SVA) — ESSENTIALLY, THE DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN OPERATING PROFIT AND PRETAX COST OF CAPITAL — IS A
METRIC USED BY JOHN DEERE TO EVALUATE BUSINESS RESULTS AND
MEASURE SUSTAINABLE PERFORMANCE.

IN ARRIVING AT SVA, EACH EQUIPMENT SEGMENT IS ASSESSED A PRETAX
COST OF ASSETS — 12% OF AVERAGE IDENTIFIABLE OPERATING ASSETS
WITH INVENTORY AT STANDARD COST. (STANDARD COST APPROXIMATES
FIFO.) EACH FINANCIAL-SERVICES BUSINESS (CREDIT AND HEALTH CARE)
IS ASSESSED A COST OF EQUITY — 19% PRETAX ON A BLENDED BASIS.
THE AMOUNT OF SVA 1S DETERMINED BY DEDUCTING THE ASSET OR
EQUITY CHARGE FROM OPERATING PROFIT.

SVA, ASWELL A5 OROA IN THE EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS AND ROE

IN FINANCIAL SERVICES, IS NOW A DRIVER OF COMPENSATION AT DEERE,
THE COMPANY’S MIDTERM BONUS IS TIED TO CUMULATIVE SVA EARNED
OVER A SEVERAL-YEAR PERIOD. THIS GIVES THOUSANDS OF MANAGEMENT
EMPLOYEES WORLDWIDE A DIRECT STAKE IN PRODUCING STRONG,
SUSTAINABLE RETURNS YEAR AFTER YEAR.

Additional information on these metrics and their relationship to amounts presented

in accordance with GAAP can be found at our Web site, www: JohnDeere.com .

Agricultural EQuipment

Commercial & Consumer Equipment
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DEERE EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS, TO CREATE SVA, ARE TARGETING AN OPER-
ATING RETURN ON AVERAGE OPERATING ASSETS (OROA) OF 20% AT NORMAL SALES
VOLUMES —AND OTHER, SIMILARLY AMBITIOUS RETURNS AT OTHER POINTS IN THE CYCLE.
(FOR PURPOSES OF THIS CALCULATION, OPERATING ASSETS ARE AVERAGE IDENTIFIABLE
ASSETS DURING THE YEAR WITH INVENTORIES VALUED AT STANDARD COST.)

$MM 01 02
Avg Assets @Std. Cost 2634 1666
| G Drefie (2655
(508

SVA (MM)

AT THE BOTTOM OF THE CYCLE — GENERALLY ABOUT 80% OF NORMAL — THE OROA
TARGET IS 12%. HOWEVER, 28% IS THE GOAL WHEN THE CYCLE HITS ATYPICAL CREST QF
120% OF NORMAL. NORMAL SALES VOLUMES ARE REVIEWED ANNUALLY FOR POSSIBLE
CHANGES BASED ON EXCHANGE RATES, NEW AND DISCONTINUED PRODUCTS, AND OTHER
ASSUMPTIONS,




15.2%

3

! DEERE FINANCIAL SERVICES, TO CREATE SVA, ARE TARGETING AN AFTER-TAX RETURN

]
ON AVERAGE EQUITY OF 15%. THE FINANCIAL SERVICES SVA METRIC 1S CALCULATED ON A
PRETAX BASIS, WITH CERTAIN ADJUSTMENTS. OPERATING PROFIT IS ADJUSTED FOR CHANGES |

IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL RECEIVABLES, WHILE THE ACTUAL ALLOWANCE IS ADDED

TO THE EQUITY BASE. THESE ADJUSTMENTS ARE MADE TO REFLECT ACTUAL WRITE-OFFS IN
BOTH INCOME AND EQUITY,

01 02 03
Financial Services Financial Services Return on Equity
$MM unless indicated 01 02 03
Net Income 192 262 330
Avg Equity 1505 2115 2177
ROE % 12.8 12.4 15.2
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Change in Allowance
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED

OCTOBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001

Deere & Company and its subsidiaries manufacture, distribute
and finance a full line of agricultural equipment; a variety of
commercial and consumer equipment; a broad range of equipment
for construction and forestry; and other technological products
and services. The company also provides credit services and
managed health care plans.

2003 COMPARED WITH 2002

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Worldwide net income in 2003 was $643 million, or $2.64 per
share diluted ($2.68 basic), compared with $319 million, or $1.33
per share diluted (§1.34 basic), in 2002. The success of new
products and ongoing efforts to manage costs and asset intensity
were evident 1n the results for 2003, Improved market conditions
also contributed to the stronger performance of the company’s
construction and forestry and commercial and consumer
equipment segments. Additionally, as a result of disciplined asset
management, trade receivables ended the year at their lowest
level in more than a decade.

Net sales and revenues increased 11 percent to $15,535
million 1n 2003, compared with $13,947 million in 2002. Net sales
of the Equipment Operations increased 14 percent in 2003 to
$13,349 million from $11,703 milhon last year. Net sales increased
primarily due to higher physical volumes of commercial and
consumer equipment and construction and forestry equipment.
In addition, the increase was due to the translation effect of
stronger foreign currency exchange rates and improved price
realization. Net sales outside the United States and Canada
increased 17 percent in 2003. Excluding the impact of changes in
currency exchange rates, these sales were up 5 percent for the year.

Worldwide Equipment Operations, which exclude the
Financial Services operations, had an operating profit of $708 million
in 2003, compared with §401 million in 2002. Operating profit
increased primarily due to improved price realization and a higher
physical volume of sales. Partially offsetting these factors were an
Increase in postretirement benefit costs of $306 million this year.
Last year’s results were negatively affected by the costs of closing
certain facilities and higher costs associated with the company’
minority investments in Nortrax, Inc. and Nortrax [nvestments, Inc.
(collectively called Nortrax), ventures involved in the ownership
and development of several construction equipment dealer locations.
During the first quarter of 2004, the company acquired a majority
interest in Nortrax, Inc. and it was consolidated.

The Equipment Operations’ net income was $305 mullion
in 2003, compared with $78 million in 2002. The same operating
factors mentioned above affected these results. In addition, prior-
year results were negatively impacted by a higher effective tax rate.

Net income of the company’s Financial Services operations
in 2003 was $330 million, compared with $262 million in 2002.
The increase was primarily due to lower loan losses, growth in
the portfolio and the absence of losses from Argentina related to
the peso devaluation last year. Additional information is presented
in the following discussion of the credit operations.

The cost of sales to net sales ratio for 2003 was 80.5 percent,
compared to 82.0 percent last year. The decrease in the ratio was

primarily due to improved price realization, higher production
volumes, the discontinuance of the amortization of goodwill,
and last year’s costs from closing certain facilities and higher costs
related to Nortrax. These improvements were partially offset by
higher postretirement benefit costs.

Finance and interest income decreased this year primarily
due to a decrease in rental income on operating leases caused by
a lower level of leases. Health care premiums and fees and related
health care claims and costs increased, compared to last year,
primarily due to higher enrollment. Other income decreased
this year primarily related to a lower volume of retail notes sold.
Research and development costs increased this year due to the
higher level of new product development and exchange rate
fluctuations. Selling, administrative and general expenses were
higher this year primarily due to higher expenses for employee
postretirement benefits, exchange rate fluctuations and increased
promotional and support costs for new products. Other operating
expenses decreased primarily as a result of lower depreciation on
operating leases this year due to the lower level of leases, and the
absence of last year’s losses from the Argentine operations related
to the peso devaluation. Equity income (loss) of unconsolidaced
affiliates improved this year primarily due to the results of the
Deere-Hitachi Construction Machinery Corporation and Nortrax.

The company has several defined benefit pension plans and
defined benefit health care and life insurance plans. The company’s
postretirement benefit costs for these plans in 2003 were $593
million, compared to $279 million in 2002. The long-term
expected return on plan assets, which is reflected in these costs, was
an expected gain of 8.5 percent, or $597 million, in 2003, compared
to 9.7 percent, or $663 million, in 2002. The actual return on
postretirement benefit plan assets was a gain of $1,050 million
in 2003, compared to a loss of $522 million in 2002. In 2004,
the long-term expected return will continue to be 8.5 percent.
The total unrecognized losses related to the postretirement benefit
plans at October 31, 2003 was $4,794 million. The company expects
the increase in postretirement benefit costs in 2004 to be approxi-
mately $125 million pretax, compared with 2003, caused by the
amortization of the unrecognized losses primarily as a result of
increasing the medical trend rate assumptions and a decrease in
the discount rate assumption. The company makes any required
contributions to the postretirement benefit plan assets under
applicable regulations and voluntary contributions from time to time
based on the company’s lquidity and ability to make tax-deductible
contributions. Total company contributions to the plans were
$745 million in 2003 and $228 million in 2002, which include
direct benefit payments for unfunded plans. The contributions in
2003 included a $475 million voluntary contribution to the
United States postretirement benefit plan assets. No voluntary
contribution was made in 2002. See the following discussion of
“Critical Accounting Policies” for postretirement benefit obligations.

The estimated annual pretax increase in earnings and cash
flows in 2002, 2003 and ongoing from the restructurings in 2001
and 2002 were approximately $100 million. These savings were as
expected. The restructurings primarily reduced cost of sales by
approximately $300 million and selling, administrative and general
expenses by $30 million, partially offset by a reduction in sales of
$230 mullion.



BUSINESS SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA RESULTS

The following discussion relates to operating results by reportable
segment and geographic area. Operating profit is income before
external interest expense, certain foreign exchange gains or losses,
income taxes and corporate expenses. However, operating profit
of the credit segment includes the effect of interest expense and
foreign exchange gains or losses.

Worldwide Agricultural Equipment Operations

The agricultural equipment segment had an operating profit of $337
million in 2003, compared with $439 million in 2002. Net sales
increased 9 percent this year due to the translation effect of stronger
exchange rates and improved price realization. The production
volumes and physical volume of sales were approximately equal

to last year. The lower operating profit was primarily due to higher
postretirement benefit costs of $216 million, higher compensation
to the credit operations for financing trade receivables and one-time
labor agreement ratification costs. Offsetting these factors was the
impact of improved price realization.

Worldwide Commercial and Consumer Equipment Operations
The commercial and consumer equipment segment had an
operating profit of $227 mulion, compared with $79 million in 2002.
Net sales increased 19 percent for the vear primarily due to strong
retail demand for recently introduced products and the impact of
expanded distribution channels. The improved operating profit was
primarily due to higher sales and production volumes. Partially off-
setting these factors were higher promotional and support costs
related to new products, as well as higher postretirement benefit
costs of $31 million. Results in 2002 were also negatively affected
by restructuring costs related to the closure of certain facilities.

Worldwide Construction and Forestry Operations

The construction and forestry segment had an operating profit

of $152 million in 2003, compared with an operating loss of §75
million in 2002. Sales increased 24 percent for the year. The increase
was primarily due to higher physical volumes, reflecting improved
retail activity. The operating profit improvement was primarily due
to higher sales and production volumes. Improved price realization
also had a favorable impact on this year’s results. Partially offsetting
these factors were higher postretirement benefit costs of $59 million.
Last year’s results were negatively affected by higher costs related
to the company’s investment in Nortrax and the costs for a
factory closing.

Worldwide Credit Operations

The operating profit of the credit operations was $474 million in
2003, compared with $386 million in 2002. Operating profit in 2003
was higher than last year due primarily to lower loan losses, growth
in the portfolio and the absence of losses in Argentina related to the
peso devaluation, partially offset by narrower financing spreads,
lower gains from a lower volume of retail note sales and higher
selling, administrative and general expenses. Total revenues of the
credit operations decreased 2 percent in 2003, primarily reflecting
lower rental income from operating leases related to the lower
level of leases, and a decrease in gains on a lower volume of retail
note sales. The average balance of receivables and leases financed
was 12 percent higher in 2003, compared with 2002, primarily due
to the increased level of trade receivables. A decrease in financing

10

rates, partially offset by an increase in average borrowings in 2003,
resulted in a 1 percent decrease in interest expense, compared
with 2002. The credit operations’ ratio of earnings to fixed
charges was 2.07 to 1 in 2003, compared to 1.85 to 1 1n 2002.

Worldwide Other Operations

The company’s other operations had an operating profit of

$22 million in 2003, compared with an operating loss of

$12 million last year. The improvement was primarily due to
lower costs and expenses of the special technologies group and
the absence of goodwill amortization from the adoption of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The operating profit for
the health care operations was comparable to last year.

Equipment Operations in United States and Canada

The equipment operations in the United States and Canada had
an operating profit of $386 million in 2003, compared with

$170 million in 2002. The increase was primarily due to improved
price realization and higher sales and production volumes of
construction and forestry and commercial and consumer
equipment. Partially offsetting these items were higher postretire-
ment benefit costs and higher promotional and support costs
related to new products. Last year’s results were negatively affected
by restructuring costs related to the closure of certain facilities and
higher costs related to the company’s investment in Nortrax.

Sales increased 13 percent in 2003 while the physical volume of
sales increased 10 percent, compared to 2002.

Equipment Operations outside United States and Canada

The equipment operations outside the United States and Canada
had an operating profit of $322 mullion in 2003, compared with
$231 million in 2002.The increase was primarily due to higher sales
and production volumes of agricultural equipment. Sales increased
mainly from the effect of stronger foreign exchange rates, as well
as improvements in price realizadon and physical volume.
Partially offsetting these factors were higher expenses related to
stronger foreign exchange rates and increased compensation to
the credit operations for financing trade receivables. Sales were

17 percent higher than last year, while the physical volume of
sales increased 2 percent in 2003, compared with 2002.

MARKET CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK

As a result of the factors and conditions outlined below, sales for
the full 2004 fiscal year are expected to increase between 9 and 11
percent and net income is forecast to be in a range of $750 million
to $850 million. The company’s net equipment sales for the first
quarter of 2004 are currently forecast to be up approximately 25
percent in comparison with depressed sales levels in the first quarter
of 2003, although production levels are expected to increase only
9 to 11 percent for the first quarter. Company-wide net income
for the first quarter in 2004 is forecasted in a range of $100 million
to $150 million. Excluding the impact of currency and price,

sales are expected to increase 18 to 20 percent for the quarter

and 6 to 8 percent for the year.

The company’s yearly earnings estimate also includes an
increase of approximately $125 million pretax in postretirement
benefit costs, based on the company’s assumptions that reflect
recent trends in medical inflation and interest rates.




Agricultural Equipment: After hitting a record level in 2003,
United States farm income is expected to remain strong in the
coming year as a result of continuing high crop and livestock prices,
as well as favorable levels of carryover stocks in farm commodities.
In addition, tax provisions that offer expanded depreciation and
expense write-offs should lend further support to farm machinery
sales. As a result of these positive factors, industry retail sales in the
United States and Canada are now expected to be up 5 to 10
percent for fiscal 2004. In other parts of the world, industry retail
sales in Western Europe are expected to be flat to down 5 percent
for the year mainly as a result of lower farm income due to the
impact of drought on the livestock sector. The company believes
industry sales in South America will be flat in 2004 While favorable
conditions support further industry growth in South America,

the company believes this could-be offset by the timing and
availability of Brazilian government financing. On a worldwide
basis, sales of the company’s agricultural equipment are now
forecast to be up berween 8 to 10 percent for the year with an
increase in physical volume of 5 to 7 percent.

Commercial and Consumer Equipment: The company’s
commercial and consumer equipment sales are expected to continue
benefiting from the success of new products, including an expanded
utility-vehicle line and the 100 series lawn tractor introduced in
the mass and dealer channels in 2003. As a result, the segment’s
sales are forecast to be up between 10 to 12 percent for the year.
Construction and Forestry: Retail activity in the construction
and forestry sectors rose at a healthy rate in 2003 mainly as a
result of strong replacement demand. The company’ sales for
2003 rose sharply in virtually all market segments and outpaced
the industry. Further replacement demand is expected to lead to
modest growth in the industry in 2004. In 2004, the company’s
shipments of construction and forestry equipment are projected
to be up 2 to 4 percent. The company consolidated Nortrax, Inc.
during the first quarter of 2004. Including Nortrax in the consoli-
dated results will add an additional estimated $275 million to sales
for the year.

Credit Operations: Although the company’s credit operations
are expected to benefit from further growth in the loan portfolio,
net income for 2004 is forecast to be down slightly as a result of
lower gains on receivable sales. The credit operations expect net
income of about $300 million for the year.

FASB STATEMENT NO. 142 A

In the first quarter of 2003, the company adopted FASB
Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

In accordance with this Statement, the company did not amortize
goodwill related to new acquisitions made after June 30, 2001
and discontinued amortizing goodwill for prior acquisitions as

of November 1, 2002. Based on the new standard, goodwill will
be written down only for impairments. The company was also
required to test existing goodwill for impairment on a transitional
basis as of November 1, 2002. The company completed this test
and determined that its goodwill was not impaired and no
write-downs were necessary. In 2002 and 2001, the company had
goodwill amortization of $58 million pretax ($53 million after-tax)
and $55 million pretax ($51 million after-tax), respectively.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995: Statements under “Market Conditions and Outlook,”
and other statements herein that relate to future operating periods
are subject to important risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially. Some of these risks and
uncertainties could affect particular lines of business, while others
could affect all of the company’s businesses.

Forward looking statements involve certain factors that
are subject to change, including for the company’s agricultural
equipment segment the many interrelated factors that affect
farmers’ confidence, including worldwide demand for agricultural
products, world grain stocks, prices realized for commodities and
livestock, crop production expenses (most notably fuel and fertilizer
costs), weather and soil conditions, real estate values, available
acreage for farming, the level, complexity and distribution of
government farm programs, animal diseases, crop pests, harvest
yields and availability of rail transport for crops. Factors that are
particularly important to the company’s outlook for this segment
include prices realized by farmers for their crops and livestock,
which in turn are strongly impacted by weather and soil conditions
and the leve] of farm product exports, as well as the level of
payments under United States government farm programs.
Further outbreaks of “mad cow” or “foot-and-mouth” disease
could also adversely affect livestock and feed prices. Concerns
pertaining to genetically modified organisms, or GMOs, may
affect farm- exports. The success of the fall harvest and the prices
realized by farmers for their crops especially affect retail sales of
agricultural equipment in the winter.

Factors affecting the outlook for the company’s commercial
and consumer equipment segment include general economic
conditions in the United States, consumer confidence, consumer
borrowing patterns and weather conditions. Another important
assumption is continued consumer acceptance of the company’s
new products, including the new 100-series lawn tractors and an
expanded utility vehicle line. Sales of commercial and consumer
equipment during the winter are also affected by the amount
and timing of snowfall.

The number of housing starts is especially important to sales
of the company’s construction equipment. The levels of public and
non-residential construction also impact the results of the company’s
construction and forestry segment. Prices for pulp, lumber and
structural panels are important to sales of forestry equipment.

" All of the company’s businesses and its reported results
are affected by general economic conditions in and the political
stability of global markets in which the company operates
(including Brazil, Argentina and other South American countries),
monetary and fiscal policies of various countries, wars and other
international conflicts and the threat thereof; actions by the
United States Federal Reserve Board and other central banks,
actions by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission,
actions by environmental regulatory agencies, including those
related to engine emissions and the risk of global warming;
actions by other regulatory bodies; actions by rating agencies,
capital market disruptions, investor sentiment, inflation and deflation
rates, interest rate levels and currency exchange rates; customer
borrowing and repayment practces, and the number of customer



loan delinquencies and defaults; actions of competitors in the
various industries in which the company competes, particularly
price discounting; dealer practices especially as to levels of new and
used field inventories; production and technological difficulties,
including capacity and supply constraints; oil and energy prices
and supplies; labor relations; changes to accounting standards;
the effects of terrorism and the response thereto; and legistation
affecting the sectors in which the company operates.
Company results are also affected by significant changes in
health care costs and in market values of investment assets,
which impact postretirement benefit costs.

The company’s outlook is based upon assumptions relating
to the factors described above, which are sometimes based upon
estimates and data prepared by government agencies. Such estimates
and data are often revised. The company, however, undertakes no
obligation to update or revise its outlook, whether as a result of
new developments or otherwise. Further information concerning
the company and its businesses, including factors that potentially
could materially affect the company’s inancial results, is included
in other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

2002 COMPARED WITH 2001

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Worldwide net income in 2002 was $319 million, or $1.33 per
share diluted (81.34 basic), compared with a net loss of $64 million,
or $.27 per share diluted ($.27 basic), in 2001. Special charges of
$46 million in 2002 and §217 million in 2001 had a negative
impact on the results for the respective years. These charges were
related to the costs of closing and restructuring certain facilities
in both years and a voluntary early-retirement program in 2001.
In addition to the decrease in special charges, better price realization
as well as the favorable impact of the company’s broad-based cost
and expense reduction initiatives were the primary drivers of the
improved results in 2002. Favorable customer response to new
products also contributed to achieving higher sales and more
efficient production levels. These factors, in conjunction with a
$323 million reduction in trade receivables and inventories helped
generate consolidated cash flow from operations of $1.9 billion
for 2002, well above 2001 levels.

Net sales and revenues increased 5 percent to $13,947 million
in 2002, compared with $13,293 million in 2001, primarily due to
higher net sales. Net sales of the Equipment Operations increased
6 percent in 2002 to $11,703 million from $11,077 million in 2001.
The sales increase reflected higher overseas sales of agricultural
equipment, especially in Europe, the impact of acquisitions net of
divestitures and higher sales of commercial and consumer equip-
ment. Sales were down for construction and forestry equipment
(excluding acquisitions) and also for agricultural equipment in
the United States and Canada. Sales outside the United States
and Canada rose by 19 percent in 2002 due to higher agricultural
equipment sales mainly in Europe. Without the effect of foreign
exchange rate changes, these sales would have been up 18 percent
for 2002.

Worldwide Equipment Operations, which exclude the
Financial Services operations, had an operating profit of
$401 million in 2002, compared with an operating loss of
$46 million in 2001. The operating profit increased primarily
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due to the decrease in the previously mentioned special charges,
improved price realization, cost and expense reductions, higher
sales of agricultural and commercial and consumer equipment,
and the absence of losses from the Homelite consumer products
business, which was sold. Partially offsetting these factors were
the compensation to credit for financing trade receivables, higher
new product start-up costs and costs associated with Nortrax.
Also having a negative impact on the results for 2002 were higher
postretirement benefit costs, before special items, as well as lower
sales and production volumes at core construction and forestry
manufacturing facilities in Dubuque and Davenport, lowa.

The Equipment Operations’ net income was $78 million
in 2002, compared with a net loss of $238 million in 2001.

The same operating factors mentioned above affected these
results. In addition, the 2002 results benefited from lower interest
expense, while a higher tax rate had a negative effect.

Net income of the company’s Financial Services operations
in 2002 was $262 million, compared with $192 million in 2001.
The increase was primarily due to the income earned on the
trade receivables financed by the credit operations, increased gains
on the sales of retail notes and improved interest rate spreads.
Additional information is presented in the following discussion of
the credit operations. Health care premiums and fees and related
health care claims and costs increased in 2002, compared to 2001,
primarily from increases in enrollment, premium increases and
medical cost inflation.

The cost of sales to net sales ratio for 2002 was 82.0 percent,
compared to 84.6 percent in 2001. The lower ratio was primarily
due to the decrease in special charges, the higher level of production
and improved price realization, partially offset by higher costs related
to new product start-up, Nortrax and postretirement benefits.

Research and development expenses decreased in 2002,
compared to 2001 when the company was introducing an
unprecedented number of new products. Interest expense
decreased in 2002 due primarily to lower average borrowing
rates. Other operating expenses increased in 2002, primarily as
a result of losses from the Argentine operations related to the
peso devaluation. Other income increased in 2002, compared to
2001, primarily due to increased gains from sales of retail notes
and the receipt of fire insurance settlements.

BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS

The agricultural equipment segment had an operating profit

of $439 million in 2002, compared with $257 million in 2001.
Net sales increased 7 percent in 2002 due to higher overseas sales,
especially in Europe, where a record number of new products
were introduced last fall. Partially offsetting the increase were
lower United States and Canada sales for 2002. The operating
profit improvement was primarily due to the decrease in special
charges, improved price realization and higher sales and production
volumes, as well as cost and expense reductions. Partially oflsetting
these factors were the compensation to credit for financing trade
receivables and higher postretirement benefit costs. In addition,
the 2002 results were negatively affected by higher new product
start-up costs. Reflecting the segment’s commitment to more-
disciplined asset management, company-owned and field inventory
levels were down $120 million for 2002 in spite of the impact of
stronger foreign currency exchange rates.




The commercial and consumer equipment segment had an
operating profit of $79 million in 2002, compared with an operating
loss of $165 million in 2001. Net sales increased 7 percent for 2002
or 6 percent without acquisitions and divestitures. The operating
profit improvement was mainly due to the decrease in special
charges, the absence of losses from Homelite, higher sales, lower
sales incentive costs, lower expenses and the receipt of fire insurance
settlements. Partially offsetting these factors was the compensation
to credit for financing trade receivables. Company-owned and
field inventory reductions totaled $204 million for 2002.

The construction and forestry segment had an operating
foss of $75 million in 2002, compared with an operating loss
of $83 million in 2001. Sales decreased 1 percent for 2002.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, sales decreased 6 percent.
Production volumes at core facilities were down 8 percent for
2002.The improvement in operating results was primarily due
to a decrease in special charges and cost and expense reductions.
Partially offsetting these factors were higher sales incentive costs,
higher costs related to the investment in Nortrax, and the lower
sales and production volumes from core operations. Also having a
negative impact on the results for 2002 were higher postretirement
benefit costs.

The operating profit of the credit operations was $386 million
in 2002, compared with $274 million in 2001. Operating profit
in 2002 was higher than in 2001 due primarily to income earned
on trade receivables, increased gains on sales of retail notes and
improved interest rate spreads, partially offset by an increase in the
provision for credit losses and losses related to the peso devaluation
in Argentina. Total revenues of the credit operations increased
9 percent in 2002, primarily reflecting the intercompany interest
compensation received from the Equipment Operations related
to trade receivables financed. The average balance of receivables
and leases financed was 22 percent higher in 2002, compared
with 2001, primarily due to the trade receivables mentioned above.
A decrease in average borrowing rates in 2002 resulted in a 16
percent decrease in interest expense, compared with 2001.

The credit operations’ ratio of earnings to fixed charges was 1.85
to 1 in 2002, compared to 1.51 to 1 in 2001.

The company’s other operations had an operating loss
of $12 million in 2002, compared with $31 million in 2001.
Results for both years were adversely affected by costs related to
the development of new products and goodwill amortization of
the special technologies operations. The decreased loss in 2002
was primarily due to cost and expense reductions in the
technologies businesses and improved results of the health care
operations mainly due to larger enrollment.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The discussion of capital resources and liquidity has been
organized to review separately, where appropriate, the company’s
Equipment Operations, Financial Services operations and the
consolidated totals.

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS

The company’s equipment businesses are capital intensive and are
subject to large seasonal variations in financing requirements for
inventories and certain receivables from dealers. The Equipment
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Operations sell most of their trade receivables to the company’s
credit operations. As a result, the seasonal variations in financing
requirements of the Equipment Operations have decreased.

To the extent necessary, funds provided from operations are
supplemented by external financing sources.

Cash provided by operating activities during 2003 was
$1,203 million primarily due to net income and a decrease in
trade receivables and inventories, which were partially offset
by a cash outflow for voluntary contributions to United States
employee postretirement benefit plans of $475 million (none last
year). The operating cash flows and the proceeds from the issuance
of common stock of $175 million (which were derived from the
exercise of stock options) were used primarily to increase cash
and cash equivalents by $858 million, fund purchases of property
and equipment of $303 million and pay dividends to stockholders
of $211 million.

Opver the last three years, operating activities have provided
an aggregate of $5,292 million in cash. In addition, borrowings
increased $455 million, proceeds from the issuance of common
stock were $240 million and the receivables from Financial Services
decreased $143 mullion. The aggregate amount of these cash flows
was used mainly to fund purchases of property and equipment of
$1,144 million, an increase in the investment in Financial Services
of $700 million and stockholders’ dividends of $626 million.
Cash and cash equivalents also increased $3,648 million over the
three-year period.

Trade receivables held by the Equipment Operations
decreased by $263 million during 2003. During this time period,
the Equipment Operations sold most of its trade receivables to
the credit operations. The decrease from a year ago was primarily
due to the increased sales of overseas trade receivables to the
credit operations (see following consolidated discussion).

Inventories decreased by $6 million in 2003. Most of these
inventories are valued on the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.
Based on constant exchange rates, inventories were approximately
$110 million lower this vear. The ratios of inventories at LIFO
cost to the last 12 months’ cost of sales were 13 percent at
October 31, 2003, compared to 14 percent at October 31, 2002.

Total interest-bearing debt of the Equipment Operations
was $3,304 million at the end of 2003, compared with $3,387
million at the end of 2002 and $2,984 million at the end of 2001.
The ratio of total debt to total capital (total interest-bearing debt
and stockholders’ equity) at the end of 2003, 2002 and 2001 was
45 percent, 52 percent and 43 percent, respectively.

FINANGIAL SERVICES

The Financial Services credit operations rely on their ability to
raise substantial amounts of funds to finance their receivable and
lease portfolios. Their primary sources of funds for this purpose
are a combination of borrowings and equity capital. Additionally,
the credit operations periodically sell substantial amounts of
retail notes.

Cash flows from the company’s Financial Services operating
activities were $694 million in 2003. Cash provided by financing
activities totaled §219 million in 2003, representing a $780 million
increase in long-term borrowings and a $250 million increase in
short-term borrowings, pardally offset by a $563 mullion decrease




in borrowings from the Equipment Operations and the payment
of $248 million of dividends. The cash provided by operating and
financing activities was used primarily to increase receivables.
Cash used by investing activities totaled $733 million in 2003,
primarily due €o receivable acquisitions exceeding collections by
$2,615 million, partially cffset by sales of receivables of $1,941
million. Cash and cash equivalents also increased $199 million.

Over the past three years, the Financial Services operating
activities have provided $2,177 million in cash. In addition, the
sale of receivables of $6,637 million, an increase in borrowings
of $2,617 million, the sale of equipment on operating leases of
$1,398 million and a capital investment from the Equipment
Operations of $700 million have provided cash inflows.

These amounts have beer used mainly to fund receivable and
lease acquisitions, which exceeded collections by $12,332 million,
and dividends of $658 million. Cash and cash equivalents also
increased $175 million over the three-year period.

Reeceivables and leases increased by $818 million in 2003,
compared with 2002. Acquisition volumes of receivables and leases
increased 23 percent in 2003, compared with 2002. The volumes
of operating loans, trade receivables, revolving charge accounts,
wholesale notes and retail notes increased approximately 33 percent,
30 percent, 28 percent, 13 percent and 7 percent, respectively.
The credit operations alsc sold retail notes receiving proceeds of
$1,941 million during 2003, compared with $2,968 million in
2002, At October 31, 2003 and 2002, net receivables and leases
administered, which include receivables and leases previously sold
but still administered, were $16,476 million and $15,363 million,
respectively.

Trade receivables held by the credit operations increased
by $141 million in 2003 primarily due to the increased purchases
of overseas trade receivables from the Equipment Operations
(see following consolidated discussion).

Total external interest-bearing debt of the credit operations
was $11,447 million at the end of 2003, compared with $10,001
million at the end of 2002 and $9,776 million at the end of 2001.
Total external borrowings have increased generally corresponding
with the level of the receivable and lease portfolio, the level of
cash and cash equivalents and the change in payables owed to
the Equipment Operations. The credit subsidiaries’ ratio of total
interest-bearing debt to total stockholder’s equity was 5.6 to 1
at the end of 2003, 2002 and 2001.

During 2003, the credit operations issued $850 million of
3.90% Global Notes due in January 2008 and entered into interest
rate swaps related to $650 million of these notes, which swapped
the fixed rate to a variable rate of approximately 1.7% at October
31, 2003. During 2003, the credit operations also issued $650 million
of 5.10% Global Debentures due in January 2013 and entered
into interest rate swaps related to these notes, which swapped the
tixed rate to a variable rate of approximately 1.8% at October 31,
2003. During 2003, the credit operations retired $200 million of
floating rate notes. The credit operations issued $1,804 million
and retired $2,324 million of other long-term borrowings during
the vear, which were primarily medium-term notes.
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CONSOLIDATED

Sources of liquidity for the company include cash and short-term
nvestments, funds from operations, the issuance of commercial
paper and term debt, the securitization and sale of retail notes,
and committed and uncommitted, unsecured, bank lines of credit.

Because of the multiple funding sources that have been and
continue to be available to the company, the company expects
to have sufficient sources of liquidity to meet its funding needs.
The company’s worldwide commercial paper outstanding at
October 31, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $2.1 billion and
$1.8 billion, respectively, while the total cash and cash equivalents
position was $4.4 billion and $2.8 billion, respectively. The company
has for many years accessed diverse funding sources, including
short-term and long-term unsecured debt capital markets in the
United States, Canada, Europe and Austrahia, as well as public and
private securitization markets in the United States and Canada.
In addition, the company has access to unsecured bank lines of
credit with various United States and foreign banks (see Note 16).

To access public debt capital markets, the company relies on
credit rating agencies to assign short-term and long-term credit
ratings to the company’s securities as an indicator of credit
quality for fixed income investors. A security rating is not a
recommendation by the rating agency to buy, sell or hold company
securities. A credit rating agency may change or withdraw company
ratings based on its assessment of the company’s current and
future ability to meet interest and principal repayment obligations.
Lower credit ratings generally result in higher borrowing costs
and reduced access to debt capital markets.

The senior long-term and short-term debt ratings currently
assigned to company securities by the rating agencies listed below
are investment grade ratings. Each rating should be evaluated
independently of any other rating. The current company ratings
and ratings outlook from each of the rating agencies engaged by
the company are as follows:

Senior ‘
Long-Term Short-Term QOutlook
Moody’s Investors............. A3 Prime-2 Stable
Service, Inc.
Standard & Poors............ A- A-2 Negative
{long-term only)
Dominion Bond............... A R-1 {low) Negative
Rating Service {long-term only)

Trade accounts and notes receivable arise from sales of
goods to dealers. Trade receivables decreased by $115 million in
2003. Based on constant exchange rates, trade receivables were
approximately $235 million lower this year. Total worldwide
agricultural equipment trade receivables increased $5 million,
commercial and consumer equipment receivables decreased
$77 million, construction and forestry receivables decreased
$41 million and other equipment receivables decreased $2 million.
The ratios of trade accounts and notes receivable at October 31
to fiscal year net sales were 20 percent in 2003, compared with
23 percent in 2002 and 26 percent in 2001. The collection period




for trade receivables averages less than 12 months. The percentage
of receivables outstanding for a period exceeding 12 months was
11 percent at October 31, 2003, compared with 6 percent at
October 31,2002 and 11 percent at October 31, 2001.

Stockholders’ equity was $4,002 million at October 31,
2003, compared with $3,163 million and $3,992 million at
October 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase of $839
million resulted primarily from net income of $643 million, a
change in the cumulative translation adjustment of $214 million
and a decrease in treasury stock of $181 million, partially offset by
dividends declared of $211 mullion.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

related to these agreements at October 31, 2003. The leases have
terms expiring from 2004 to 2007.

At October 31,2003, the company had approximately
$70 million of guarantees issued primarily to overseas banks related
to third-party receivables for the retail financing of John Deere
equipment. The company may recover a portion of any required
payments incurred under these agreements from repossession of
the equipment collateralizing the receivables. At October 31, 2003,
the company had accrued losses of approximately $1 million under
these agreements. The maximum remaining term of the receivables
guaranteed at October 31, 2003 was approximately seven years.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The company’s credit operations periodically securitize and sell
retail notes to special purpose entities (SPEs) in securitizatons of
retail notes. The credit operations use these SPEs in a manner
consistent with conventional practices in the securitization industry
to isolate the retail notes for the benefit of securitization investors.
The use of the SPEs enables these operations to access the highly
liquid and efficient securitization markets for the sales of these types
of financial assets. The amounts of funding from securitizations
reflects such factors as capital market accessibility, relative costs of
funding sources and assets available for securitization. Based on an
assessment of these and other factors, the company received §1,891
million of funding and recognized pretax gains of $50 million
related to these securitizations during 2003. The company’s total
exposure to recourse provisions related to securitized retail notes
was $236 million and the total assets held by the SPEs related to
securitizations was $2,964 million at October 31, 2003.

At October 31, 2003, the company had a 41 percent
ownership interest in Nortrax, Inc. and a 40 percent ownership
interest in Nortrax Investments, Inc. {collectively called Nortrax),
which have been recorded on the equity basis. These operations
are involved in the ownership and development of several
construction equipment dealers. The company has certain option
agreements with the majority owners of Nortrax related to
ownership for which the probable costs have been accrued at
year-end. At October 31, 2003, Nortrax’s total assets, total net assets
and the company’s investment in Nortrax were $432 million,
$97 million and $40 million, respectively. The sales from the
company to Nortrax and its affiliates in 2003 were $412 million,
and the company’s receivables from Nortrax at October 31, 2003
totaled $235 million. Nortrax did not have sigmificant external
borrowings. Subsequent to year-end (in December 2003),
the company exercised certain call options in Nortrax, Inc.

‘for $112 mullion, increasing the company’s ownership interest to
83 percent. Nortrax, Inc., which represents most of the Nortrax
operations, was consolidated at that time.

At October 31, 2003, the company had guaranteed
approximately $80 million of residual values for five operating
leases related to certain administrative and manufacturing buildings.
The company is obligated at the end of each lease term to pay
to the lessor any reduction in market value of the leased property
up to the guaranteed residual value. The company recognizes the
expense for these future estimated lease payments over the terms
of the operating leases and had accrued expenses of $15 million

Most of the company’s contractual obligations to make

payments to third parties are debt obligations. In addition, the
company has certain contractual agreements for future lease
payments. The payment schedule for these contractual obligations
in millions of dollars is as follows:

Less More

than 1-3 35 than
Total 1 year years  years  Syears

Total debt*

Equipment Operations . $ 3229 $ 577 § 301 § 1 $2350
Financial Services ........ 11,216 3,770 3,120 1680 2,636
Total oo 14,445 4,347 3421 1,691 4,986
Operating leases ............ 356 85 96 7 104
Total obfigations............. $14,801 $4432 $3517 $1,762 $5,090

* Principal payments only.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the company’s consolidated financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. Changes in these estimates and assumptions
could have a significant effect on the financial statements.

The accounting policies below are those management believes

are the most critical to the preparation of the company’s financial
statements and require the most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments. The company’s other accounting policies are described
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

Sales Incentives

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
an estimate of the future sales incentive costs for allowances and
financing programs that will be due when the dealer sells the
equipment to a retail customer. The estimate is based on historical
data, announced incentive programs, field inventory levels and
settlement volumes. The final cost of these programs and the
amount of accrual required for a specific sale is fully determined
when the dealer sells the equipment to the retail customer.

This is due to numerous programs available at any particular time
and new programs that may be announced after the company
records the sale. Changes in the mix and types of programs affect
these estimates, which are reviewed quarterly.



Product Warranties

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
the estimated future warranty costs. These costs are usually
estimated based on historical warranty claims. Variances in claims
experience and the type of warranty programs affect these
estimates, which are reviewed quarterly.

Retirement Benefit Obligations
Pension obligations and other postretirement employee
benefit (OPEB) obligations are based on various assumptions
used by the company’s actuaries in calculating these amounts.
These assumptions include discount rates, health care cost trend
rates, expected return on plan assets, compensation increases,
retirement rates, mortality rates and other factors. Actual results
that differ from the assumptions and changes in assumptions
affect future expenses and obligations.

The effect of hypothetical changes to selected assumptions
on the company’s major United States retirement benefit plans
would be as follows in millions of dollars:

October 31, 2003 2004
Increase Increase Increase
Percentage {Decrease) (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Assumptions Change PBO/APBO* Equity** Expense
Pension
Discount rate™........ +-5 $(343)/361  $197/207) $ (13)/22
Expected return
0N assetS.......ovne. +/-5 (33)/33
OPEB
Discount rate™ ........ +/-5 (251)/263 (28)/28
Health care cost
trend rate™......... +-1.¢ 612/(545) 135/(119)

* Projected benefit obligation (PBO) for pension plans and accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation (APBO) for CPEB plans.

** Minimum pension liability adjustment after-tax.
*** Pretax impact on service cost, interest cost and amortization of gains or losses.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses represents an estimate of the losses
expected from the company’s receivable portfolio. The level of the
allowance is based on many factors, including collection experience,
economic conditions and credit risk quality. The adequacy of the
allowance 1s assessed quartetly. Different assumptions or changes
in economic conditions would result in changes to the credit
allowance and the provision for credit losses.

Operating Lease Residual Values

The carrying value of equipment on operating leases is affected by
the estimated fair values of the equipment at the end of the lease
(residual values). Upon termination of the lease, the equipment is
either purchased by the lessee or sold to a third party, in which case
the company may record a gain or a loss for the difference between
the estimated residual value and the sale price. The residual values
are dependent on current economic conditions and are reviewed
quarterly. Changes in residual value assumptions would affect the
amount of depreciation expense and the amount of investment in
equipment on operating leases.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK INFORMATION

The company is naturally exposed to various interest rate and
foreign currency risks. As a result, the company enters into
derivative transactions to manage certain of these exposures that
arise in the normal course of business and not for the purpose

of creating speculative positions or trading. The company’s credit
operations manage the relationship of the types and amounts of
their funding sources to their receivable and lease portfolio in an
effort to diminish risk due to interest rate and foreign currency
fluctuations, while responding to favorable financing opportunities.
Accordingly, from time to time, these operations enter into interest
rate swap agreernents to manage their interest rate exposure.

The company also has foreign currency exposures at sonte of its
foreign and domestic operations related to buying, selling and
financing in currencies other than the local currencies. The company
has entered into agreements related to the management of these
currency transaction risks. The credit risk under these interest rate
and foreign currency agreements is not considered to be significant.

Interest Rate Risk

Quarterly, the company uses a combination of cash flow models
to assess the sensitivity of its financial instruments with interest
rate exposure to changes in market interest rates. The models
calculate the effect of adjusting interest rates as follows. Cash flows
for financing receivables are discounted at the current prevailing
rate for each receivable portfolio. Cash flows for borrowings are
discounted at the treasury yield curve plus a market credit spread
for similarly rated borrowers. Cash flows for interest rate swaps
are projected and discounted using forecasted rates from the swap
yield curve at the repricing dates. The net loss in these financial
instruments’ fair values which would be caused by decreasing the
interest rates by 10 percent from the market rates at October 31,
2003 and 2002 would have been approximately $56 million and
$35 million, respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk
In the Equipment Operations, it is the company’s practice to
hedge significant currency exposures. Worldwide foreign
currency exposures are reviewed monthly. Based on the
Equipment Operations anticipated and committed foreign
currency cash inflows and outflows for the next twelve months
and the foreign currency derivatives at year end, the company
estimates that a hypothetical 10 percent strengthening of the
United States dollar relative to all other currencies through
2004 would decrease the 2004 expected net cash inflows by
$65 million. Similar assumptions and calculations indicated 2
potential $28 million adverse effect on the 2003 net cash inflows.
In the Financial Services operations, the company’s policy
is to hedge the foreign currency risk if the currency of the
borrowings does not match the currency of the receivable
portfolio. As a result, a hypothetical 10 percent adverse change
in the value of the United States dollar relative to all other
foreign currencies would not have a material effect on the
Financial Services cash flows.




REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The consolidated financial statements and other financial
information of Deere & Company in this report were prepared by
management, which is responsible for their contents. They reflect
amounts based upon management’s best estimates and informed
judgments. In management’s opinion, the financial statements
present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash
flows of the company in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

The company maintains a system of internal accounting
controls and procedures which is intended, consistent with
reasonable cost, to provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are executed as authorized, that they are included in the financial
records in all material respects, and that accountability for assets is
maintained. The accounting controls and procedures are supported
by careful selection and training of personnel, examinations by
an internal auditing department and a continuing management
commitment to the integrity of the system.

The financial statements have been audited to the
extent required by auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent
auditors. The independent auditors have evaluated the company’s
internal control structure and performed tests of procedures and
accounting records in connection with the issuance of their report
on the fairness of the financial statements.

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Review
Committee composed entirely of directors who are not employees
of the company. The Audit Review Committee meets with
representatives of management, the internal auditing department
and the independent auditors, both separately and jointly.

The Committee discusses with the independent auditors and
approves in advance the scope of the audit, reviews with the
independent auditors the financial statements and their auditors’
report, consults with the internal audit staff and reviews manage-
ment’s administration of the system of internal accounting controlk.
The Committee reports to the Board on its activities and findings.
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Deloitte.

Deere & Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Deere & Company and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2003 and
2002 and the related statements of consolidated income, changes
in consolidated stockholders’ equity and consolidated cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2003.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Deere & Company and subsidiaries at October 31, 2003 and
2002 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2003
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective
November 1, 2002, the company changed its method of accounting
for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform to Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.

DM*%«JL Ler

Chicago, llinois
December 16, 2003




DEERE & COMPANY

STATEMENT OF GONSOLIDATED INCOME
For the Years Ended October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(In millions of dollars except per share amounts)

Net Sales and Revenues
BT SIBS ..ot st e s e LR b e e RS e s At Rt e e

Health care premiums and fees..
OHNBE INCOME ... eoevterteeercie e et e et e e e e

Costs and Expenses

COSE OF SAIES......ev v evert ettt R R e s
Research and development expenses
Selling, administrative and geNEral BXPENSES .......cvivrvriiiets et e ettt ere s eea et naes
IMEEIBST BXDENSE ...vcvuvieves e vers e et sa s et bbbt a1 bbb s R bbb aa e nr s
Health care claims and costs .
OhEr OPEIAING BXPEINISES rvvvievvvirerseertiaesieeneessesss e s ees s arese s srss s ees s s b e e R eeb bbbt s

Income (Loss) of Consolidated Group before Income Taxes ...,
Provision fOr iNCOME TAXES ....vevveivreieonr e nes e

Income (Loss) of Gonsolidated Group

Equity in Income (Loss) of Unconsolidated Affiliates
CTBAI 11t et et bbb 1800188t

NEt INCOME (LOSS) ...t et ettt e b e bbb ene

Per Share Data

INELINCOME (J0SS) = DASIC ....c.vvvarsiirersieenseivesien s st sres b e bbb tb s bRt ba s e
Net income (loss) — diluted.
DIVIENAS TBCIAMEM. cv . cvveviveir ittt sa bbb bbb b et e e e nr e rrans

2003 2002 2001
$13,349.1 $11,702.8 $11,077.4
1,275.6 1339.2 14452
664.5 636.0 585.0
2454 269.0 185.3
15,5346 13,947.0 13,292.9
10,752.7 9,593.4 9,376.4
577.3 527.8 590.1
17442 1,657.3 1,716.8
628.5 637.1 765.7
536.1 518.4 476.0
324.5 4103 392.7
14,563.3 13,344.3 13,3177
971.3 602.7 (24.8)
336.9 258.3 177
634.4 344.4 {42.5)
2 (3.8) (3.3)

8.5 (21.4) {18.2)
87 (25.2) 215

$ 6431 $ 3192 $ (640
$ 268 $ 134 $ @2
$ 264 $ 133 $ (20
$ 88 $ .88 $ 88

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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DEERE & COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As of October 31, 2003 and 2002

(In millions of dollars except per share amounts)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
MEKETADIE SECUMTIES 1.\ttt en s e s e s e s et s ean s e e ene s st e
Receivables from unconsolidated affiliates
Trade accounts and notes receivable - net
Financing receivables = net ...,
Other reCeIVADIES .......coo.ccnriririresini e e
Equipment on operating leases - net..............
INVENTOMIES ...coovvevcerce e,
Property and equipment - net..........ccccocovriverenn,

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates..............

GOOTWIILL.......covve e cirerisiis et ettt b ebs e ts ettt b1 et a bbb 403 e bbb e b e b e b3 et bbbt
Other intangible assets - net
Prepaid pension costs
BT ASSBES. ... vvviv ettt e e Lttt
DEfEITEU INCOME TAXES 1v.vvvevsi vttt et et et e et s a1 et e bbb ba bttt aa e b s b st
DEIBITEA CHBIGES ... vt is s s bbbt bbb

TORAL ASSEES.........cviiiitier sttt ettt ee Y81 481 03 ee s ee s ee bR bbbt et s

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES
SHOME-EIM BOMTOWINGS 1+v. vttt e et bbb et e b s s b8 8 b8
Payables to unconsolidated affiliates
ACCOUNES PAYaDIE AN ACCTUBH BXPENSES ...vvv.vviveiure v ieeistsesssiess e bt sttt b s ats et bbb bbb b b ceba et anba s
HEalt! Care ClAIMS @A FESEIVES. ... e et iriesiensi st sttt bbb esba s bbbt b snba e
Accrued taxes
Deferred INCOME taX8S ...c.vvvvvverivi s
Long-term DOMTOWINGS.....c..vvvvcrnsier s e e
Retirement benefit accruals and other liabilities

Total liabilities

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value (authorized — 600,000,000 shares;

issued — 268,215,602 shares in 2003 and 2002), at Stated VAIUB.........cc.vorriiriiieiiins it
Common stock in treasury, 24,694,170 shares in 2003 and 29,321,098 shares in 2002, at cost
Unamortized restricted STOCK COMPENSALON ... ...o.ievivirrieeeiivieiieessiie e et eas e bbb s s b s ba bt es
RETAINEA BAMIMGS ... bbb e bt s

Minimum pension ability AQJUSIMENT .. ... e s e b e
Cumulative translation adjustment
Unrealized loss on derivatives .........
Unrealized gain on investments. ............ccoovevviveniee s

Accumulated other comprehensive income (10sS) ...
TOtal STOCKNOIAETS’ BUUILY. «... v cvviririre e ettt b erns e et bbb et ne s

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ EQUITY ...............cc..cooevii oo e ssss e s sees

2003

$ 43845
2318
303.2

2,619.3
99742
4283
1,381.9
1,366.1
20756
195.5
872.1
252.9
62.6
534.3
1,476.1

99.6

$ 26,258.0

10,404.2
39599

22,2559

1,987.8
(1,141.4)
(8

4,329.5

5,170.1

(1,078.0)

(79.2)
(22.4)
116

(1,168.0
4,0021

$ 26,258.0

2002

$ 28148
189.2
265.8

2,733.6
9,067.5
426.4
1,609.2
1,371.8
1,998.3
180.6
804.0
90.9
49.6
582.1
1,490.1
94.0

$ 23,768.0

$§ 44373
64.0
31422
92.8

87.4

245
8,950.4
3,806.2

20,604.8

1,957.0
(13222)

(17.8)
39126

45296
{1,032.1)

(293.1)
(47.0)
58

(1,366.4)
3163.2

$ 23,768.0

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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DEeeRE & COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(In millions of dollars)

2003 2002 2001
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
NBEINCOME (J0SS) ..o vvvrvvvvrvieserses et cvescseeesses s et ebes b0 ettt b st $ 6431 $ 3192 $ (64.0)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (10ss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for dOUDTTUI TECEIVANIBS .........ou.icririiers ettt erss e bbb 106.8 160.7 113.0
Provision for depreciation and amortization 631.4 7253 7183
Undistributed earnings of unconsolidated affillates...........c.oceoriniincomim e {5.5) 227 19.5
Provision (credit) for deferred INCOME TAXES .. ... .cvv.u v cenns e e e 33.1 (1.2) {230.3)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
RBCBIVADIES ....vvvier v eir ettt bt et e R et e 182.3 158.2 316.9
IVENTOTIES 111vvevetsrisis st et b s et ot s s e et ettt a0 e b 4R e e et eb s R eb et 84.1 85.8 136.5
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. (184.9) 144.0 407
OHDBT . 45.3 263.6 62.8
Net cash provided by operating aCIVIIBS ... s 16357 1,878.3 11134
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
COllECioNS OF FECRIVADIES ...t et st 9,077.6 6,987.0 6,966.3
Proceeds from sales of financing receivables..........c.covovinie 1,941.0 2,967.8 1,728.0
Proceeds from maturities and seles of marketable securities 76.4 754 324
Proceeds from sales of SQUIPMENT 0N OPETating IBASES ... c.cv.ivrrivveriiieriiieesries e eres e 5145 4952 391.7
Proceeds from SaIES OF DUSINESSES .vu.ivur.sivercmmmiinsievs i s sess s s ess s o san s s 225 535
COSt Of rECEIVARIES BOQUITEM woovv v ivecss ettt ettt st bbb bbb bbb b (11,576.8) (9,955.3) (9,795.7)
Purchases of marketable securities (118.2) (87.8) {75.7
Purchases of property and equipment (309.6) (358.7) 491.0)
Cost of 0perating 183SES ACAUITET. ... cvir v ir et et et e ettt s @473.7) (487.9) {775.2)
Acquisitions of busSiNesses, Net Of CASN ACAUIMET ... .vvvivvcve v e e e s s (10.6) (19.0) (315.2)
Decrease (increase) in receivables from unconsolidated affliAteS ... . e e 6.8) 14.8 {(112.0)
NI oot b e (32.4) 1.0 815
Net cash used for investing activities (896.1) (314.0) {2,364.9)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Increase (decrease) in SHOM-BIM DOMOWINGS «.....ovvvieer i et 126.9 1,413.2) (506.5)
Proceeds from 10ng-tEIM DOMOWINGS ....cvuoviiviieenr ettt e et e s 3,312.9 45737 4818.3
Principal payments 0N 10Ng-1Erm BOMOWINGS ........vvvrrirnrieeerisreienesinets e et sst st enas s (2,542.7) 2,771.0) (2,118.5)
Proceeds from isSUance of COMMON STOCK ...t et 174.5 48.0 17.8
Repurchases 0f COMMON STOCK ......ivviiivriiriiien et ettt st s bbbt bt en e bbb e (4) 1.9 (1.3)
Dividends paid (210.5) (208.9) (206.5)
ONIBT e e b b e (1.8) (1.9 238
Net cash provided by financing ACHVILIES ........c.overe it e s snr s 858.9 2259 2,0004
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Gash ... s 711 (5.3) (10.6)
Net Increase in Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENES...............c..ccoo e, 1,569.6 1,784.9 738.3
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of YEar...............c.cccccoviveivininicnnconnee s e s 2,814.9 1,030.0 2917
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year..................ccccooocoimiiinnincn s, $ 43845 $ 28149 $ 1,030.0

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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DEeERE & COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended October 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(In millions of dollars)

Unamortized Other
Total Common Treasury Restricted Retained Comprehensive
Equity Stock Stock Stock Earnings Income (Loss)
Balance October 31,2000 ..................cc..ccoeviinrens $43019 $1,864.4 $(1,439.0) $ (10,9 $ 41172 $ (2298
Comprehensive income (0ss)
NEt iNCOME {I0SS) .. .vevv v 64.0) 64.0)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Minimum pension liability adjustment 7.7 (7.7
Cumulative translation adjustment .......... ®3.1) ©3.1)
Unrealized loss on derivatives............. (72.0) 72.0)
Unrealized gain on investments...........ccc.ooe.o.e, 3.7 37
Total comprehensive income (loss)................ {203.1)
Repurchases of common stock (1.3 (1.3)
Treasury shares reissued............ 34.8 348
Dividends declared............ {206.1) 206.1)
Acquisition of a busingss............. 80.5 80.5
Other stockholder transactions (14.5) 3.7 (5.9) (12.3)
Balance October 31,2001 ..., 39922 1,948.6 (1,405.5) (16.8) 3,834.8 (368.9)
Comprehensive income (loss)
NELINCOME...vvivicetecr s e s 319.2 319.2
Other comprehensive income {l0ss)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (1,015.9 (1,015.9
Cumulative translation adjustment ........ (7.6) {7.6)
Unrealized gain on derivatives............ 25.0 25.0
Unrealized gain on investments...........ooeoveeie, 1.0 1.0
Total comprehensive income (108S)................... (678.3)
Repurchases of common Stock...........coocoeinniieeinn, (1.2) 1.2)
Treasury shares reissued 84,5 845
Dividends declared..........ccccvericvirerieerinisirs e, (209.3) {208.3)
Other stockholder transactions .........c..cc.coeiveriinnn. (24.7) 8.4 (1.0 32.1)
Balance October 31,2002...............c..ccoocovvivvrnns 3,163.2 1,957.0 {1,322.2) (17.8) 39126 {1,366.4)
Comprehensive income (0ss}
NELINCOME .ovvovee i s e 6431 643.1
Other comprehensive income (10ss)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (45.9) (45.9)
Cumulative transiation adjustment ......... 2139 213.9
Unrealized gain on derivatives............ 24.6 246
Unrealized gain on investments.......... 58 58
Total comprehensive income (loss).... 8415
Repurchases of common stocK................... (4 . (4
Treasury shares reissued....... 181, 181.
Dividends declared..........c........ (211.2) 211.2)
Other stockholder transactions ... ivcrnicrnnnens 278 30.8 12.0 (15.0)
Balance October 31,2003 ...................cc.cooeveennns $ 4,002.1 $1,987.8 $(1,141.4) $ (5.8 $ 43295

$ (1,168.0)

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are significant accounting policies in addition to those
included in other notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements represent the consolidation
of all companies in which Deere & Company has a controlling
interest. Deere & Company records its investment in each
unconsolidated affiliated company (generally 20 to 50 percent
ownership) at its related equity in the net assets of such affiliate.
Other investments (less than 20 percent ownership) are recorded at
cost. Consolidated retained earnings at October 31, 2003 include
undistributed earnings of the unconsolidated affiliates of $35 million.
Dividends from unconsolidated affiliates were §3 million in 2003,
$2 million in 2002 and $2 million in 2001 (see Note 6).

Special purpose entities (SPEs) related to the sale and
securitization of financing receivables, which are also variable
interest entities, are not consolidated since the company does not
control these entities, and they either meet the requirements of
qualified special purpose entities, or the company is not the
primary beneficiary (see Note 10).

Certain amounts for prior years have been reclassified
to conform with 2003 financial statement presentations.
Structure of Operations
Certain information in the notes and related commentary are
presented in a format which includes data grouped as follows:

Equipment Operations — Includes the company’s agricultural
equipment, commercial and consumer equipment, construction
and forestry, and special technologies operations with Financial
Services reflected on the equity basis.

Financial Services — Includes the company’s credit and
health care operations.

Consolidated — Represents the consolidation of the
Equipment Operations and Financial Services. References
to “Deere & Company” or “the company” refer to the entire
enterprise.

Use of Estimates in Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Sales of equipment and service parts are recorded when

tide and all risk of ownership are transferred to the independent
dealer based on the agreement in effect with the dealer. In the
United States and most international locations, this transfer occurs
when goods are shipped to the dealer. In Canada and some other
international locations, certain goods are shipped to dealers on a
consignment basis under which title and risk of ownership are
not transferred to the dealer. Accordingly, sales are not recorded
until a retail customer has purchased the goods. In all cases, when
a sale is recorded by the company, no significant uncertainty exists
surrounding the purchaser’s obligation to pay. No right of return
exists on sales of equipment. Service parts returns are estimable
and accrued at the time a sale is recognized. The company makes
appropriate provisions based on experience for costs such as
doubtful receivables, sales incentives and product warranty.
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Financing revenue is recorded over the terms of the related
receivables using the interest method. Income from operating
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the scheduled
lease terms. Health care premiums and fees are recognized as
earned over the terms of the policies or contracts.

Sales Incentives

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
an estimate of the future sales incentive costs for allowances and
financing programs that will be due when the dealer sells the
equipment to a retail customer. The estimate is based on historical
data, announced incentive programs, field inventory levels and
settlement volumes.

Product Warranties

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
the estimated future warranty costs. These costs are usually
estimated based on historical warranty claims (see Note 20).
Sales of Receivables

Certain financing receivables are periodically sold to SPEs in
securitization transactions (see Note 10). Gains or losses from
these sales are recognized in the period of sale based on the
relative fair value of the portion sold and the portion allocated to
retained interests. The retained interests are recorded at fair value
estimated by discounting future cash flows. Changes in these fair
values are recorded after-tax as a component of equity included
in other comprehensive income until realized.

Depreciation and Amortization

Property and equipment, capitalized software and other
intangible assets are depreciated over the estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. Equipment on operating leases

is depreciated over the terms of the leases using the straight-line
method. Property and equipment expenditures for new and
revised products, increased capacity and the replacement or
major renewal of significant items are capitalized. Expenditures for
maintenance, repairs and minor renewals are generally charged to
expense as incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets
(including property and equipment, goodwill and other intangible
assets) when events and circumstances warrant such a review.
Goodwill 15 also reviewed for impairment by reporting unit
annually (see Note 15). If the carrying value of the long-lived
asset is considered impaired, a loss is recognized based on the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair market
value of the asset.

Health Care Claims and Reserves

Health care claims and reserves include liabilities for unpaid
claims based on estimated costs of settling the claims using past
experience adjusted for current trends.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currencies for most of the company’s foreign
operations are their respective local currencies. The assets and
liabilities of these operations are translated into United States
dollars at the end of the period exchange rates, and the revenues
and expenses are translated at weighted-average rates for the
period. The gains or losses from these translations are included

in other comprehensive income, which is part of stockholders’
equity. Gains or losses from transactions denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the subsidiary involved and




foreign exchange forward contracts and options are included 1n
net income. The total foreign exchange pretax net loss for 2003,
2002 and 2001 was $6 million, $36 million and $16 million,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The company has retained the intrinsic value method of
accounting for its plans in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25.
No compensation expense for stock options was recognized
under this method since the options’ exercise prices were not

less than the market prices of the stock at the dates the options
were awarded (see Note 22). The stock-based compensation
expense recognized in earnings relates to restricted stock awards.
For disclosure purposes under Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, the Black-Scholes option pricing model was used
to calculate the “fair values” of stock options on the date the
options were awarded. Based on this model, the weighted-average
fair values of stock options awarded during 2003, 2002 and 2001
with the exercise price equal to the market price were $9.55,
$11.42 and $12.06 per option, respectively.

Pro forma net income {loss) and net income (loss) per share,
as if the fair value method in FASB Statement No. 123 had been
used for stock-based compensation, and the assumptions used
were as follows with dollars in millions except per share amounts:

2003 2002 2001
Net income (i0ss) as reported.......c..coo.cvvvn.... $ 643 $§ 319 § (64)
Add:
Stock-based employee compensation costs,
net of tax, included in net income ........... 3 2
Less;
Stock-based employee compensation costs,
net of tax, as if fair value method had
been applied ..o, (32) @37 (32)
Pro forma net income (108S) .......oevvvvvivrirn. $ 614 § 284 $ (36)
Net income (loss) per share:
As reported — basiC.........ovcerieericriinnrnn $ 2688 § 134 $ (27)
Pro forma — basic ......... $ 25 $ 119 § (41)
As reported - diluted $ 264 $ 133 $ (27
Pro forma — diluted ........ooovveerrceiris $ 253 $ 119 § (41)
Black-Scholes assumptions*
Risk-free interest rate .......cocovovvercivnnen. 2.4% 3.6% 5.4%
Dividend yield.........ccoocovrvvnrnrircnricrenns 1.9% 2.1% 2.1%
Stock volatility .......coovereireeeiernns 298% 360% 33.2%
Expected option life in years ..........coevv... 34 3.7 41

" Weighted-averages
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New Accounting Standards Adopted
In 2003, the company adopted FASB Statement No. 141,
Business Combinations, and Statement No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets. Statement No. 141 requires the purchase
method of accounting for all business combinations and eliminated
the pooling of interests method effective June 30, 2001.
Statement No. 141 also specifies the types of acquired intangible
assets to be included in goodwill and those to be reported
separately from goodwill upon adoption of Statement No. 142.
No adjustments of goodwill and other intangible assets were
necessary based on these requirements.

In accordance with Statement No. 142, the company
did not amortize goodwill related to acquisitions made after
June 30,2001 and discontinued amortizing goodwill for
prior acquisitions upon adoption of the new standard as of
November 1, 2002. Based on the new standard, goodwill will
be written down only for impairments. The company was also
required to test existing goodwill for impairment on a transitional
basis as of November 1, 2002. The company has completed this
test and has determined that its goodwill is not impaired and no
write-downs are necessary. A fair value approach was applied to
the company’ reporting units to determine if the carrying value
of goodwill was impaired. The fair value of the reporting units was
established based on discounted cash flows and market multiples.
Goodwill will continue to be tested for impairment annually,
or more often if events and circumstances change.

Pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share,
excluding goodwill amortization, were as follows with dollars in
millions except per share amounts:

2003 2002 2001
Net income (10ss) as reported.....c.co..cvveerennne $ 643 § 319 § (89
Goodwill amortization, net of tax...........c....... 53 51
Pro forma net income {1088) .........cvvevvrvveenn. $ 643 § 372 § (13
Basic net income per share:
Net income {0ss) as reported............ovvcevnnn. $ 268 $ 134 $ (27)
Goodwill amortization, net of tax................... 22 22
Pro forma net income (10SS) ....vvvvervvvennennns $ 268 § 156 $ (05
Diluted net income per share:
Net income (loss) as reported.....co...oeuvveconne, $ 264 $ 133 § (27)
Goodwill amortization, net of tax..........c.c..... 22 al
Pro forma net income (1088) .....ovvvevvriieeen $ 264 § 155 § (06

In 2003, the company also adopted new accounting standards
issued by the FASB described as follows. Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others, requires the guarantor to recognize, at inception of
a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation under-
taken in issuing a guarantee (see Note 20). Statement No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, requires legal
obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets
to be recorded as increases in costs of the related assets.
Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets, retains the previous cash flow test for
umpairment and broadens the presentation of discontinued
operations. Statement No. 146, Accounting for the Costs




Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, requires companies
to recognize liabilities and costs associated with exit or disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002 when they are
incurred, rather than when management commits to a plan to
exit an activity. Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, amends the
transition provisions and requires certain pro forma disclosures.
Statement No. 149, Amendment of Statement No. 133 on
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which incorporates
certain implementation guidance and clarifies the definition of a
derivative. Statement No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,
which affects the accounting for certain obligations that a
reporting entity can or must settle by issuing its own equity
shares. The adoption of these standards did not have a material
effect on the company’s financial position or net income.

New Accounting Standard to be Adopted

In 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 46,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, which addresses the
consolidation and related disclosures of these entities by business
enterprises. These are entities in which either the equity investment
at risk is not sufficient to absorb the probable losses without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties, or the
investors with equity at risk lack certain essential characteristics
of a controlling interest. Under the Interpretation, the company
must consolidate any variable interest entities (VIEs) in which the
company holds variable interests and the company is deemed the
primary beneficiary. The effective date for the adoption of FIN
No. 46 for interests in VIEs created prior to February 1,2003 is
the end of the first fiscal quarter of 2004 and the adoption is not
expected to have a material effect on the company’s financial
position or net income. The effective date for new VIEs created
after January 31, 2003 was immediate and the adoption had

no effect.

As disclosed in Note 10, the company’s credit operations
hold retained interests in certain special purpose entities (SPEs)
related to the securitization and sale of their retail notes.

These SPEs are defined as VIEs. Under the Interpretation, most of
the company’ retained interests are not deemed variable interests
because they are interests in a VIE’s specified assets with a fair
value that is less than half the fair value of the VIE’ total assets.
The company’s remaining retained interests are with qualified
special purpose entities (QSPEs) as defined by FASB Statement
No. 140, Accounting for Transters and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, which are exempt from
consolidation. The adoption of this standard will not require the
consolidation of any of these SPEs related to securitizations.

The company also has a 41 percent ownership interest
in Nortrax, Inc. and a 40 percent ownership interest in Nortrax
Investments, Inc. (collectively called Nortrax), which meet the
definition of VIEs under FIN No. 46. These operations are involved
in the ownership and development of several construction
equipment dealer locations. Nortrax has been recorded based on
the equity method. Under the Interpretation, the company 1s the
primary beneficiary due to certain put options held by the majority
owners (see Note 20). Nortrax would have to be consolidated
on the effective date of FIN No. 46 on January 31, 2004.
Subsequent to fiscal year-end (in December 2003), the company
increased its ownership in Nortrax, Inc. to 83 percent and it was
consolidated at that time (see Note 28). Nortrax, Inc. represents
most of the Nortrax operations.

Financial information for Nortrax in millions of dollars
is as follows:

October 31
Financial Position 2003 2002
TOLA) ASSBIS. . cvvvveveriiiie et e $ 432 § 407
TOAI NEL ASSELS vuvevrvivveer e 97 92
Deere & Company's share of
e NBL ASSES.....covvriice e e 40 38

The sales from the company to Nortrax and its affiliates
during 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $412 million, $271 million and
$293 million, respectively The company’ total receivables from
Nortrax at October 31, 2003 and 2002 were $235 million and
$255 million, respectively. Nortrax did not have significant
external borrowings. The company’s probable cost related to
the options with the majority owners has been accrued as of
October 31, 2003 (see Note 20).

2. SPECIAL ITEMS

In 2001 and 2002, the company announced certain actions

aimed at increasing efficiency and reducing costs. The company
recognized asset write-downs and liabilities related to these costs.
Following are tables of the write-downs and liabilities related

to the restructuring charges and descriptions of these actions.
There have been no material revisions to these restructuring
plans. The estimated annual pretax increase in earnings and cash
flows in 2002, 2003 and ongoing from the restructurings in

2001 and 2002 were approximately $100 million. These savings
were as expected. The restructurings primarily reduced cost of
sales by approximately $300 million and selling, administrative and
general expenses by $30 million, partially offset by a reduction in
sales of $230 million. The company also recognized non-recurring
special item charges for voluntary early-retirement programs as
described below.




2001 Restructuring Charges

The expense and liabilities for restructuring items at October 31 in
millions of dollars and the number of employees to be terminated
were as follows:

Liabilities
Expense™* Payments 2001

Property and

equipment

WIE-GOWNS ...eocvvc e $ 38
Inventory write-downs .................... 33

Total write-downs .........ccccvveninn, 71
Termination

benefits ..cooveeriviiie 26 3 @ $ 24
Contract

terminations ... 27 27
Warranties and

product returnsS.. ..o 16 16
Goodwill write-off ... 5 6)
Other CoStS ..o e e 10 3 7

Total A0CTUAIS ........ocvvvveirrre 84 $ (10) $ 74
Total ..o $ 155"

2001

Employees to

be terminated...........ccrvivnnriiene 1,000

*In the fourth quarter of 2001, the company also accrued voluntary early-retirement
benefits of $189 million based on acceptances for a total of $344 million special items.
See following discussion.

** There were no adjustments in 2001.

The costs for restructuring items in 2001 totaled $155 million
consisting of $123 million of cost of sales and §32 million of
selling, admunistrative and general expenses as discussed below.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the company announced
plans to exit the hand-held consumer products business included
in the commercial and consumer equipment segment. Affected by
this decision were consumer products operations and employees
primarily in the southeastern United States and Mexico.

The company sold its hand-held consumer products operations
in Chihuahua, Mexico and other United States facilities related
to this business. As a result, a total cost of $132 million was
recognized consisting of $15 million for termination benefits for
approximately 700 employees, contract terminations of $27 million,
product warranties and returns of $16 million, impairment write-
downs of $33 million for inventory and $35 million for property
and equipment, and other costs of $6 million. The hand-held
consumer products operations had revenues of $240 million and
$235 million during 2001 and 2000, respectively. During the same
periods, pretax operating losses were $72 million and $70 million,
excluding the restructuring costs as discussed above.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the company also
announced plans to reduce manufacturing and marketing costs
in the construction and forestry segment. These plans included
employee separations, the closing or sale of certain forestry
equipment operations in Bessermer, Alabama; Atlanta, Georgia;
and Woodstock, Ontario. As a result, a total cost of $23 million
was recognized consisting of $11 million for termination benefits
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for approximately 300 employees, a write-off of goodwill of
$5 million, impairment write-downs of property and equipment
of $3 million and other costs of $4 million.

2001 Voluntary Early-Retirement Programs

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the company also offered
voluntary early-retirement programs primarily to certain

United States employees whose age plus vears of service equaled
80 or more by October 31, 2001. Based on acceptances received,
the company recorded an expense of $189 million pretax for the
cost of the special retirement benefits and related curtailment costs
consisting of $132 million in cost of sales and $57 million in
selling, administrative and general expenses. The voluntary early-
retirement liability is being paid from the pension assets over the
remaining lives of the retirees and dependents as pension payments
are made (see Note 3).

2002 Restructuring Charges

The expense (income) and labilities for restructuring items at
October 31 in millions of dollars and the number of employees
to be terminated were as follows:

Liabilities Expense Liabilities
2001 (Income) Payments 2002
Property and
equipment
write-downs .............. $ 29
Inventory write-downs.... 5
Total write-downs ...... 34
Termination
benefits........ccccon. $ 24 12 $ (25 $ 1
Contract
terminations ............. 27 12 (21) 18
Warranties and
product returns......... . 16 8) ] 1
Other CostS.....oviviviennnn, 7 8 3 12
Total accruals ............ $ 74 24 $ (56) $ 42
Total .. $ 58
2001 Additions Terminated 2002
Employees to
be terminated............ 1,000 900 (1700) 200

In addition to these charges, the company recognized $11 million of other
non-accruable restructuring costs for a total of $69 million restructuring costs.

The restructuring costs of $69 million have been reduced by $14 million of adjustments
{$10 million cost of sales and $4 million selling, administrative and general expenses)
due to changes in prior-year estimates as described below, Early-retirement programs
also totaled $3 million in 2002 for a total of $72 million of special items.

The costs for restructuring items in 2002 totaled $69 million
consisting of $68 million of cost of sales and $1 million of other
expenses, as discussed below. The beginning liabilinies shown above
relate to special items shown in the previous table for 2001.

In 2002, the company’s commercial and consumer equipment
segment announced plans to close facilities in Williamsburg, Virginia
and Jeffersonville, Indiana and streamline operations at Horicon,
Wisconsin. As a result of these actions, a cost of $38 million was
recognized, partially offset by $14 million of adjustments related to
exiting the hand-held consumer products business (see prior
discussion for 2001). The net restructuring cost of $24 million



consisted of property and equipment write-downs of $6 million,
nventory write-downs of $1 million, contract terminations of
$8 million, termination benefits of $3 million for approximately
200 employees and other costs of §6 mullion.

In 2002, the construction and forestry segment announced
plans to close the Loudon, Tennessee factory and relocate the
skid-steer loader producticn to its Dubuque, Iowa facility.
Primarily as a result of this closure, a total cost of $27 million
was recognized consisting of property and equipment write-downs
of $14 million, inventory write-downs of $1 million, contract
terminations of $4 million, termination benefits of $4 million
for approximately 400 employees and other costs of $4 million.

In 2002, the company’ agricultural equipment segment
recognized $12 million of impairment and reorganization costs
primarily in its Argentina operations consisting of property and
equipment write-downs of $8 million, inventory write-downs
of $2 million, termination benefits of $1 million for approximately
100 employees and other costs of $1 million. The company’ special
technologies group recognized $9 million of costs primarily related
to the closure of a facility in Springfield, llinois and the restruc-
turing of Agris Corporation. These costs consisted of termination
benefits of $4 million for approximately 200 employees, property
and equipment write-downs of $1 million, inventory write-downs

of $1 million and other costs of $3 million.

2003 Restructuring Gharges

The income and liabilities for restructuring items at October 31 in
millions of dollars and the number of employees to be terminated
were as follows:

Liabilities  Adjustment Liabilities
2002 Income™ Payments 2003
Termination
benefits ......coovcvvriin. $ 1 $ $ (10)
Contract
terminations .............. 18 (3) M $ 14
Warranties and
product retums.......... 1 M
Other CoStS.....viveirina 12 @ 8)
Total ..., $§ 42 § $ (19 § 18

2002 Additions Terminated 2003

Employees to
be terminated............ 200 (200)

I addition to these accrual adjustments, the company recognized $2 million of other
non-accruable restructuring costs related to these actions for a net total $5 million
of restructuring income.

** These are adjustments of prior year accruals due to changes in estimates.

The income from restructuring items in 2003 totaled
$5 nullion consisting of credits of $2 million to cost of sales
and $3 million to selling, administrative and general expenses.
The beginning liabilities shown above relate to special items
shown in the previous table for 2002.

3. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The company has several defined benefit pension plans covering
its United States employees and employees in certain foreign
countries. The company also has several defined benefit health
care and life insurance plans for retired employees in the
United States and Canada.

The worldwide components of net periodic pension cost
and the significant assumptions consisted of the following in
millions of dollars and in percents:

2003 2002 2001

Pensions
SBIVICE COBL 1ovvvvvvrvisieriereriinns oo e ne $111 $107 $ 118
IMEEIESE COSE oo 450 448 424
Return on assets:
Actual (Qain) 105S...covevriviver e (958) 481 1,318
Deferred gain (0SS} e v ieninnins 400 (1,100) (1,921)
Amortization of actuarial (gain) 108S......cccovvvverinnen 40 2 )
Amortization of prior service CoSt..vv.vveeenriiinninn 40 30 34
Amortization of net fransition asset ........co.cceeernn M ©)
Special early-retirement benefits...........coo oo 3 135
Settlements/curtailments ..., 6
Net cost (income)..............c..ccccovvcrnrcvviininennen, $ 8 $ 29 $ 8
Weighted-average Assumptions
Discount rates for obligations .......c.ccccoevrevviriinnnns 80% 6.7% 7.2%
Discount rates for BXPENSES......cv..cvevervveveeeiniens 6.7% 7.2% 7.4%
Assumed rates of compensation increases ............. 3.9% 3.9% 4.8%
Expected long-term rates of retum. ..., 85% 9.7% 9.7%

The worldwide components of net periodic postretirement
benefits cost and the significant assumptions consisted of the
following in millions of dollars and in percents:

2003 2002 2001

Health Care and Life Insurance

SBIVICE COSE v vevrveier oo ren et $ 8 $ 8 ¢ 69
INEBrESt COSE....vivevrii v s 287 224 192
Return on assets;
Actual {gain) 108S.. oo (92) 41 101
Deferred gain (108S) ........covrivcrneiniiinenirin, 53 85 (155
Amortization of actuarial 10sS ... 176 46
Amortization of prior service cost 2) ©) 2
Special early-retirement benefits 1
Settlements/curtailments ... 53
Netcost.........cc..ooooveiiiie e, $510 $303 $263
Weighted-average Assumptions
Discount rates for obligations .......c..cccvvvivrerrieviniee . 6.8% 7.2%

Discount rates for expenses.............. . 72% 77%
Expected long-term rates of return 97%  97%

The total special early-retirement benefits were $3 million
in 2002 and $189 million in 2001, including curtailments
(see Note 2).

The annual rates of increase in the per capita cost of
covered health care benefits (the health care cost trend rates)
used to determine 2003 costs were assumed to be 7.0 percent
for 2004 and 5.0 percent for 2005 and all future years. The 2002
costs assumed 5.0 percent in 2003 and all future years. The 2001
costs assumed 4.5 percent for 2002 and all future years.




The October 31,2003 health care obligations assumed 10.0 percent
for the 2004 trend rate graded down evenly to 5.0 percent for
2009 and all future years. An increase of one percentage point
in the assumed health care cost trend rate would increase the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligations at October 31,2003
by $619 million and the aggregate of service and interest cost
component of net periodic postretirement benefits cost for that year
by $51 million. A decrease of one percentage point would decrease
the obligations by $551 million and the cost by $44 million.

The following is the actual percentage allocation, target
allocation and expected rate of return for the total pension and
health care plan assets (similar for both plans) at October 31, 2003:

Actual Target Expected
Allocation Allocation Rate of
Percent Percent Return
U.S. equity securities............couvnnn. 38% 40% 9.0%
Non-U.S. equity securities .............. 22 20 9.0
Global fixed income securities ........ 20 20 6.0
Global afternative investments......... 20 20 9.5

The global fixed income securities weighted-average
maturity was approximately 7.5 years.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets reflects
management’s expectations of long-term average rates of return
on funds invested to provide for benefits included in the projected
benefit obligations. The expected return is based on the outlook
for inflation, fixed income returns and equity returns, while also
considering historical returns, asset allocation and investment
strategy. Although not a guarantee of future results, the average
annual return of the company’s United States pension fund was
10 percent during the past ten years and 11 percent during the
past 20 years. The discount rate assumption is based on investment
yields available on AA rated long-term corporate bonds.

The company will not have mandatory contributions to the
United States pension plans for fiscal year 2004. However, voluntary
contributions may be made during this period.
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A worldwide reconciliation of the funded status of the
benefit plans at October 3] in millions of dollars follows:

Health Care

and
Pensions Life Insurance
2003 2002 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligations

Beginning of year balance ..........cc.oee... $(6,840) $(6,440) $(4,108) $(3,114)
Service cost My (107) (88) (83)
Interest cost 4500 (448) (287) (229
Actuarial loss (534) (293} (1.578) (882
Amendments (190) 424
Benefits paid 484 474 238 195
Settlements/curtailments..........ccoocvvevneee 4
Special early-retirement benefts ........... (3)
Foreign exchange and other (27 )]
End of year balance ........oeveerivverieennias (6,840) (5,408) (4,108)
Change in plan assets (fair value)
Beginning of year balance............coovvevvve 5,951 410 451
Actual return on plan assets (481) 92 @1
Employer contribution............... 33 313 195
Benefits paid.........oovr e @74 (238) (195
Foreign exchange and other )
End of year Dalance .......o..cnvvverrireeriins 5,024 577 410
Plan obligation more than

PIAN ASSES ovvvr v o, (1803) (1,816) (4,831) (3,698
Unrecognized actuarial 10SS .......c.ccoovvve. 2094 1975 289 1,518
Unrecognized prior service (credit) cost.... 254 90 (423) 0]
Remaining unrecognized

trangition lability ..........cc.cocovvrnr e 1
Net amount recognized...................... 545 250 (2,385 (2,181)
Minimum pension

liahility adjustment. ... (1,964) (1,729

Net liability recognized $(1,419) $(1,479) $(2,385) $(2,181)

Amounts recognized in
balance sheet

Prepaid benefit COst.......cc..ccovcercvvvrnnnn, 63 $§ 50
Accrued bengfit liability ... (1,482) (1,529) $(2,385) $(2,181)
Intangible asset.......oicivivrivrier e, 250 87
Accumulated pretax charge to
other comprehensive iNCOMe ............. 1,714 1,642

Net amount recognized...................... § 545 3 250 $(2,385) $(2,181)

The total accumulated benefic obligations for all pension
plans at October 31, 2003 and 2002 was $7,390 million and
$6,487 million, respectively.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with
the accumulated benefit obligations greater than plan assets at
Qctober 31, 2003 were $7,569 million, $7,186 million and
$5,745 million, respectively, and at October 31, 2002 were
$6,722 million, $6,375 million and $4,849 million, respectively.

The minimum pension liability adjustment recorded by
the company was $1,964 million and $1,729 million as of
October 31,2003 and 2002, respectively. The mcrease in the

adjustment, compared to last year, was caused by an increase




in the accumulated benefit obligation due to a decrease in the
discount rate from 6.7 percent to 6.0 percent and amendments
to the plans. This increase in the obligation was partially offset by
an increase in the fair value of plan assets due to the return on
plan assets and voluntary company contributions.

4, INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes by taxing jurisdiction and by
significant component consisted of the following in millions
of dollars:

2003 2002 2001
Current:
United States:
$145 $ 96
1 8
109 112
255 216
Deferred:
United States:
59 6 (171
3 2 (17
FOTBIGN. .. et e s (25) ) (10)
Total deferred .o 37 3 (198)
Provision for income taxes..............cc............ $337 %258 $ 18

Based upon location of the company’s operations, the
consolidated income (loss) before income taxes in the United States
in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $428 million, $327 mullion and $(227)
million, respectively, and in foreign countries was $543 million,
$276 million and $202 million, respectively. Certain foreign
operations are branches of Deere & Company and are, therefore,
subject to United States as well as foreign income tax regulations.
The pretax income by location and the preceding analysis of the
income tax provision by taxing jurisdiction are, therefore, not
directly related.

A comparison of the statutory and effective income
tax provision and reasons for related differences in millions of
dollars follow:

2003 2002 2001

United States federal income tax provision
(credit) at a statutory rate of 35 percent..... $340 $211 § (9
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State and local income taxes, net of

federal income tax benefit...........covverevieiivinnns 4 2 6)
Taxes on foreign activities...........covcverrieieiiereviiercnns 4 1 28
Benefit of Foreign Sales Corporation........................ 6)
Goodwill amortization ........c.ecevvvvvenne. 10 11
Nondeductible costs and other-net ..o 3 36
Provision for income taxes............................ $337 $258 § 18

At October 31, 2003, accumulated earnings in certain
overseas subsidiaries totaled $504 million for which no provision
for United States income taxes or foreign withholding taxes has
been made, because it is expected that such earnings will be
reinvested overseas indefinitely. Determination of the amount of
unrecognized deferred tax Lability on these unremitted earnings
Is not practical.
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Deferred income taxes arise because there are certain items
that are treated differently for financial accounting than for income
tax reporting purposes. An analysis of the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities at October 31 in millions of dollars follows:

2003 2002
Deferred  Deferred  Deferred  Deferred
Tax Tax Tax Tax
Assets  Liabilities  Assets  Liabilities
Accrual for retirement and
postemployment benefits............. $ 696 $ 721
Minimum pension liability
aduUSIMeNt.....covcerrirverie e 636 612
Accrual for sales allowances 266 273
Tax over book depreciation .............. $ 215 $ 221
Deferred lease inCOME.......cc.cvvinnn, 169 165
Allowance for doubtful receivables....... 79 75
Accrual for vacation pay..........o... 60 54
Tax foss and tax credit carryforwards.... 37 47
Unrealized loss on derivatives .......... 12 25
Other IBMS v e 12 69 89 49
Less valuation allowance ................. )

Deferred income tax

assets and liabilities $1898 $ 453 $1,891 § 425

Deere & Company files a consolidated federal income tax
return in the United States, which includes the wholly-owned
Financial Services subsidiaries. These subsidiaries account for
income taxes generally as if they filed separate income tax returns.

At October 31, 2003, certain tax loss and tax credit
carryforwards for $37 million were available with $18 million
expiring from 2007 through 2012 and $19 million with an
unlimited expiration date.

5. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The major components of other income and other operating
expenses consisted of the following in millions of dollars:

2003 2002 2001
Other income
Gains from sales of retail notes and leases*.. $ 54  § 81 $ 32
Securitization and servicing fee income......... 55 50 30
Revenues from services 45 51 52
Investment income............... 11 12 12
Other v s 80 75 59
TOtl o e s $ 245 $ 269 $185
Other operating expenses
Depreciation of equipment on
OPErating 188SES c.uvvvivvenrvvivenrisie v $273  $316 $317
COSt OF SBIVICES ..vvvveviierii e 20 31 40
OthBI™ e 32 63 36
Total oo $325 $ 410 $393

*Includes securitizations and other sales of retail notes and leases.
** Includes Argentine peso devaluation losses in 2002.

6. UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Unconsolidated affiliated companies are companies in which
Deere & Company generally owns 20 percent to 50 percent of the
outstanding voting shares. Deere & Company does not control




these companies and accounts for its investments in them on the
equity basis. The investments in these companies primarily consist of
Deere-Hitachi Construction Machinery Corporation (50 percent
ownership), Nortrax, Inc. (41 percent ownership), Nortrax
Investments, Inc. (40 percent ownership), Bell Equipment Limited
(32 percent ownership) and Sunstate Equipment Co., LLC
(49 percent ownership). Subsequent to fiscal year-end, the company
increased its ownership in Nortrax, Inc. to 83 percent, at which
time Nortrax, Inc. was consolidated, and the company sold its
minority ownership in Sunstate Equipment Co., LLC (see Note 28).
The unconsolidated affiliated companies manufacture, market or
rent equipment. Deere & Company’s share of the income of these
companies is reported in the consolidated income statement
under “Equity in Income (Loss) of Unconsolidated Affiliares.”
The investment in these companies is reported in the consolidated
balance sheet under “Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates”
Combined financial information of the unconsolidated
affiliated companies in millions of dollars is as follows:

Year Ended October

The contractual maturities of debt securities at October 31,
2003 in millions of dollars follow:

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

DU iN ONE YEAr OF IBSS....vccvvre s e e $ M $ 1
Due after one through five Years.........cveievevivenianni 62 66
Due after five through 10 years 68 70
Due after 10 YBAIS.....ceer vt ees 59 58
Debt securities................cco.cocooeerioveiecriins e, $200 $205

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because some securities may be called or prepaid. Proceeds from
the sales of available-for-sale securities were $20 million in 2003,
$34 million in 2002 and $7 million in 2001. Realized gains and
losses and the increase (decrease) in the net unrealized gains or
losses were not significant in those years.

8. TRADE ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Trade accounts and notes receivable at October 31 consisted of

Operations 2003 2002 2001 the following in millions of dollars:

SAIBS ..o $1.929 $1605 $1,667 2003 2002

NEL INCOME (10SS) ..vcovvvvnrrverrercrrcv 23 {38) (32) Trade accounts and notes:

Deere & Company’s equity in AGHCUIUIAL .....cvvvoovv e ennns $1,702  $1,697
NELINCOME (I0SS) ... vvvvvvrerrcreree e e 9 (25) 22) Commercial and consumer ... 883 760

October 31 Construction and forestry ...... 225 266

Financial Position 2003 2002 OBT oo 9 11

TOtA! ASSEES oo e $1297  $1,265 Trade accounts and notes receivable-net ........ $2619 32734

Total external borrowings 384 193

TOtal NBE ASSELS .vvovvvvvvveerrc et e e 445 449 At October 31, 2003 and 2002, dealer notes included in

Oeere & Company's share of the previous table were $428 million and $472 million, and the
the NEL ASSBIS ..o e e 196 181

7. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities are currently held by the health care
subsidiaries. All marketable securities are classified as available-for-
sale under FASB Statement No. 115, with unrealized gains and
losses shown as a component of stockholders’ equity. Realized
gains or Josses from the sales of marketable securities are based
on the specific identification method.

The amortized cost and fair value of marketable securities
in millions of dollars follow:

Amortized  Gross Gross
Cost  Unrealized Unrealized Fair

or Cost Gains Losses Value
October 31, 2003
EQUIty SECUIItIES. ...covrrrvvivvrivirnne $25 $ 3 $ 1 $ 27
U.S. government debt securities ..... 62 2 64
Corporate debt securities............... 81 4 1 84
Mortgage-backed debt securities .. 57 1 1 57
Marketable securities............. $225 %10 $ 3 $232
October 31, 2002
EqUity SECUrties. .....vvvvvvvriceriinnne $ 18 $ 2 $ 16
U.S. government debt sacurities ..... 49 § 3 52
Corporate debt securities............... 63 3 66
Mortgage-backed debt securities.. 53 2 55
Marketable securities............. $183 § 8 $ 2 $189
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allowance for doubtful trade receivables was $58 million and
$45 million, respectively.

In October 2001, the Equipment Operations in the
United States sold $2.2 billion of trade receivables to
Deere Capital, Inc. (DCI), a wholly-owned Financial Services
subsidiary of John Deere Capital Corporation. In 2002 and 2003,
these operations continued to sell a significant portion of newly
originated trade receivables to the credit operations. During 2002
and 2003, the overseas Equipment Operations also began selling
certain trade receivables to John Deere Finance S.A., a wholly-
owned overseas Financial Services subsidiary of the Capital
Corporation. The Equipment Operations provided compensation
to the credit operations at market rates of interest for these
receivables during 2002 and 2003. Although this arrangement
had substantially no effect on consolidated net income, it did shift
net income and operating profit from the Equipment Operations
to the credit operations due to the compensation in those years.
Reesponsibility for servicing these receivables in the United States
was also transferred to the credit operations.

Trade accounts and notes receivable arise from sales
of goods to dealers. Under the terms of the sales to dealers,
interest is charged to dealers on outstanding balances, from the
earlier of the date when goods are sold to retail customers by
the dealer or the expiration of certain interest-free periods
granted at the time of the sale to the dealer, until payment is



received by the company. Dealers cannot cancel purchases after
the equipment is shipped and are responsible for payment even if
the equipment is not sold to retail customers. The interest-free
periods are determined based on the type of equipment sold
and the time of vear of the sale. These periods range from one to
12 months for most equipment. Interest-free periods may not be
extended. Interest charged may not be forgiven and interest rates,
which exceed the prime rate, are set based on market factors.
The company evaluates and assesses dealers on an ongoing basis as
to their credit worthiness and generally retains a security interest
in the goods associated with these trade receivables. The company
is obligated to repurchase goods sold to a dealer upon cancellation
or termination of the dealer’s contract for such causes as change
in ownership, closeout of the business or default. The company
may also in certain circurmstances repurchase goods sold to a
dealer in order to satisfy a request for goods from another dealer.
Trade accounts and notes receivable have significant
concentrations of credit risk in the agricultural, commercial
and consumer, and construction and forestry sectors as shown
in the previous table. On a geographic basis, there is not a
disproportionate concentration of credit risk in any area.

9, FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Financing receivables at October 31 consisted of the following in
millions of dollars:

2003 2002
Retail notes:
Equipment;
AQHCURUEAL . .......ovorees s e $4995 $4292
Commercial and CONSUMEN ...........oeerrviisrierrinn, 1,092 914
Construction and forgstry.....co.cevveenriiie i, 1,515 1,550
Recreational productS ........cccovvvriiivecreiiar e 114 166
TOMAL ettt e 7,716 6,922
Who!esale NOES .....ccoer e 828 950
Revolving €harge acCoumMs . ...oevieniicneeriinn e 1,164 928
FINANCING IBASES ..v.voevvive e e 759 751
Operating [0ans..........ccvveevvenn 543 563
Total financing receivables 11,010 10,114
Less;
Unearned finance income:
EQUIDMENt NOES 1vvvvev e 755 754
Recreational product notes .. 34 51
Financing leases.......c...... 98 105
TOML oo 887 910
Allowance for doubtful receivables .........ocoocveviinn 149 136
Financing receivables —net................cco....e. $9974 $9,068

Financing receivables have significant concentrations of
credit risk in the agricultural, commercial and consumer, and
construction and forestry sectors as shown in the previous table.
On a geographic basis, there is not a disproportionate concentration
of credit risk in any area. The company retains as collateral a
security interest in the equipment associated with retail notes,
wholesale notes and financing leases.

Financing receivable installments, including unearned
finance income, at October 31 are scheduled as follows in

millions of dollars;

2003 2002

Due in months:
0 = 12 e s $ 5282 § 4,949
13 - 24.., 2,194 1,994
25-36 1,602 1,430
37 =48, 1,101 927
49 = B0..iiirnin, 607 541
Thereafter...coovovnviennen, 224 273
Total ... s $11,010  $10,114

—eme——

The maximum terms for retail notes are generally eight
years for agricultural equipment, six years for commercial and
consumer equipment and five years for construction and forestry
equipment. The maximum term for financing leases is generally
five years, while the average term for wholesale notes is 12 months.

At October 31,2003 and 2002, the unpaid balances of retail
notes and leases previously sold by the credit operations were
$2,916 million and $2,621 million, respectively. The retail notes sold
are collateralized by security interests in the related equipment sold
to customers. At October 31, 2003 and 2002, worldwide financing
receivables administered, which include financing receivables and
leases previously sold but still admunistered, totaled $12,890 million
and $11,689 million, respectively.

Total financing receivable amounts 60 days or more past due
were $51 million at October 31, 2003, compared with $57 million
at October 31, 2002. These past-due amounts represented
.50 percent of the receivables financed at October 31, 2003 and
.62 percent at October 31, 2002. The allowance for doubtful
financing receivables represented 1.47 percent and 1.48 percent
of financing receivables outstanding at October 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. In addition, at October 31, 2003 and 2002, the
company’s credit operations had $175 million and $153 million,
respectively, of deposits withheld from dealers and merchants
available for potential credit losses. An analysis of the allowance
for doubtful financing receivables follows in millions of dollars:

2003 2002 2001

Balance, beginning of the Year ..........cccoeiviovriiennonn, $136 $126 $106
Provision charged to operations 84 156 103
AmMOounts WITHEN Off ... (6) (128 (73
Transfers primarily related to retail note sales ........... (15 (18 (10)
Balance, end of the year.............c..c..ccooo..... $149 $136 3126

10. SALE AND SEGURITIZATION OF FINANCING RECEIVABLES

The company periodically sells receivables to special purpose
entities (SPEs) in securitizations of retail notes. It retains interest-
only strips, servicing rights, and in some cases cash reserve accounts,
all of which are retained interests in the securitized receivables.
Gains or losses on sales of the receivables depend in part on the
previous carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the
transfer, allocated between the assets sold and the retained
interests based on their relative fair values at the date of transfer.




The company generally estimates fair values based on the present
value of future expected cash flows using management’s key
assumptions as discussed below. The company retains the rights

to certain future cash flows and in the United States transactions
receives annual servicing fees approximating 1 percent of the
outstanding balance. No significant balances for servicing assets or
Liabilities exist because the benefits received for servicing are offset
by the costs of providing the servicing. The company’s maximum
exposure under recourse provisions related to securitizations at
QOctober 31,2003 and 2002 was $236 million and $209 million,
respectively. Except for this exposure, the investors and
securitization trusts have no recourse to the company for failure
of debtors to pay when due. The company’s retained interests,
which are included in the recourse provisions, are subordinate

to investors’ interests, and their values are subject to certain key

assumptions as shown below. The total assets of the unconsolidated .

SPEs related to securitizations at October 31, 2003 and 2002
were $2,964 million and $2,720 million, respectively.

Pretax gains in millions of dollars on retail notes securitized
and key assumptions used to initially determine the fair value of
the retained interests were as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Pretax gains ..o ivcenrioneininnns o, $ 50 $ 7 $§ 12
Weighted-average maturities in months........ 21 19 20
Average annual prepayment rateS ................ 19% 22% 20%
Average expected annual credit losses ...... 42% 42% 30%
Discount rates on retained interests
and subordinate tranches ..., 13% 13% 13%

Cash flows recetved from securitization trusts in millions
of dollars were as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Praceeds from new securitizations ................ $1891  $2870 $ 995
Servicing fees reCeived ..o vvvvvcenrivrriinnens 24 28 19
Other cash flows received.........ccccoeevivveinnan, 49 103 53

The total retained interests, weighted-average life, weighted-
average current key economic assumptions and the sensitivity
analysis showing the hypothetical effects on the retained interests
from immediate 10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes in
those assumptions with dollars in millions were as follows:

2003 2002
Retail Note Securitizations
Carrying amount/fair value of retained interests $ 107
Weighted-average life (in months) ... 15
Prepayment speed assumption @nnual rate) .........ccovcon.. 19%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ 8
tmpact on fair value of 20% adverse change $ 19
Expected credit 105ses @nnual rate) .......ooovevvincriier v 39%
impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ 11
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change § 22
Residual cash flows discount rate @nnual) ........cooceeriennas 13%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change § 25
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change $ 49

These sensitivities are hypothetical changes in fair value and
cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the changes
in assumption to the changes in fair value may not be linear.
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Also, the effect of a variation in a partcular assumption 15 calculated
without changing any other assumption, whereas, changes in one
factor may result in changes in another. Accordingly, no assurance
can be given that actual results would be consistent with the
results of these estimates.

Principal balances of owned, securitized and managed
retail notes; past due amounts; and credit losses (net of recoveries)
in millions of dollars follow:

Principal Principal 60 Days or Net Credit
Outstanding More Past Due |.osses
2003
Owned .....ovvveveer e, $ 6,759 $ 30 $ 27
Securitized................... 2,752 12 11
Managed.........cco........ $ 951 $ 42 $ 38
2002
Owned ....coooovve $ 6,066 $ 18 $ 27
Securitized. .. e 2,497 14 10
Managed.......c..ccivans $ 8,563 $ 32 $ 37

|
|

The amount of actual and projected future credit losses
as a percent of the original balance of retail notes securitized
(expected static pool losses) were as follows:

Retail Notes Securitized In

2003 2002 2001

Actual and Projected Losses (%) as of Year End:
2003 ... 67% 53%  .76%
2002............oceccee e 61% 57%
2001 ... 61%

11. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other receivables at October 31 consisted of the following in
millions of dollars:

2003 2002
Taxes rECIVADIE .....cv..vvvveeerns e cene e $ 176 $ 232
Receivables relating to securitizations. .. 134 92
OHNBT v e e 118 102
Other receivables................ccc.ccoooiviieiieice $ 428 $ 426

The credit operations’ receivables related to securitizations
are equal to the present value of payments to be received for
certain retained interests and deposits made with other entities
for recourse provisions under the retail note sales agreements.

12, EQUIPMENT ON OPERATING LEASES

Operating leases arise primarily from the leasing of John Deere
equipment to retail customers. Initial lease terms generally range
from 36 to 60 months. Net equipment on operating leases totaled
$1,382 million and $1,609 mullion at October 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the leases. The accumulated depreciation on this
equipment was $535 million and $614 million at October 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively. The corresponding depreciation expense
was $273 muillion: in 2003, $316 million in 2002 and $318 million
in 2001.




Future payments to be received on operating leases totaled
$626 million at October 31, 2003 and are scheduled as follows
in millions of dollars: 2004 — $276, 2005 — $185, 2006 — $103,
2007 — $48 and 2008 — $14.

13. INVENTORIES

Most inventories owned by Deere & Company and its

United States equipment subsidiaries are valued at cost, on the
“last-in, first-out” (LIFO) basis. Remaining inventories are
generally valued at the lower of cost, on the “first-in, first-out”
(FIFO) basis, or market. The value of gross inventories on the
LIFO basis represented 67 percent and 72 percent of worldwide
gross inventories at FIFO value on October 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. If all inventories had been valued on a FIFO basis,
estimated inventories by major classification at October 31 in
millions of dollars would have been as follows:

“Other Assets” at October 31, 2003 and 2002 was $276 million
and $238 million, less accumulated amortization of $207 million
and $170 million, respectively. Amortization of these software
costs was $38 million, $38 million and $31 million in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

The cost of compliance with foreseeable environmental
requirements has been accrued and did not have a material effect
on the company’ financial position or results of operations.

15. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS-NET

The amounts of goodwill by operating segment were as follows
in millions of dollars:

2002

2003*
Agricultural @QUIPMENT.....c.. v essenes $ 75 ¢ 68
Commercial and consumer equipment 305 304
Construction and fOrestry oo s 473 413
OINBT et e 19 19
Total goodwill ...........cc.cooooiviii e $ 872 $ 804

* The changes in goodwill between years were primarily due to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates.

2003 2002
Raw materials and SUDPIES. .......cvvrioveeereveer e, $ 49 §$ 515
WOrk-in-process ........ooovevvvennes 388 367
Finished machines and parts 1,432 1,444
Total FIFO valug.......covcvvene. 2,316 2,320
Adjustment 10 LIFO valug .......oveevveevrevinr e e 950 948
INVENTOMIES ......oooevvee e ettt $1366 $1,372

14. PROPERTY AND DEPRECIATION

A summary of property and equipment at October 31 in millions
of dollars follows:

Useful Lives
(Years) 2003 2002

LANG v e $ 68 $§ 62
Buildings and building equipment............ 10-33 1,366 1,254
Machinery and equipment.............c...o.... 12 2,705 2,470
Dies, patterns, tools, etc 8 932 821
Allother ..o, 3-8 671 692
Construction in progress 92 196

Total at cost 5,834 5,495
Less accumulated depreciation.............. 3,758 3,497
Property and equipment - net....... $2,076 $1,998

Upon the adoption of FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets, in the first quarter of fiscal 2003,
goodwill was no longer amortized and will be written down in
the future only for impairments (see Note 1). Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment by reporting unit annually or as events
and circumstances change. All goodwill has been allocated to the
reporting units, which consist primarily of the operating segments.

The components of other intangible assets are as follows in
millions of dollars:

2003 2002

Amortized intangible assets:

Gross patents, licenses and other ... ivevvevvi e $ 9 ¢ 10

Accumulated amortization...........c..ccoviiieenronnieins 6) ©)

Net patents, licenses and other. ... 3 4
Unamortized intangible assets:

Intangible asset related to minimum

PENSION HADMILY ... 250 87

Totai other intangible assets-net ... $ 253 § ot

Leased property under capital leases amounting to
$19 million and $12 million at October 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, is included in property and equipment.

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Property and equipment additions in 2003, 2002
and 2001 were $320 millicn, $358 million and $500 million and
depreciation was $319 million, $310 million and $308 mullion,
respectively.

Capitalized software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and the estimated useful life is chree years.

The amount of total capitalized software costs, including
purchased and internally developed software, classified as
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Other intangible assets, excluding the intangible pension
asset, are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are
being amortized over 17 years or less on the straight-line basis.
The intangible pension asset is remeasured and adjusted annually.
The increase in the intangible pension asset is due to an increase
in unrecognized prior service cost related to pension plan
amendments. The amortization of other intangible assets is
not significant.




16. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings at October 31 consisted of the following
in millions of dollars:

2003 2002

Equipment Operations

Commercial paper $ 313
Notes payable to banks... 69
Long-term borrowings due within one year ...................... 263 16
TOMAL .o oo e e 577 398
Financial Services
ComMErCial PADET.....ccovvriicrcrer et e 1,836 1,531
Notes payable 10 DaNKS ..o 66 37
Long-term borrowings due within one year...........c..c.e.... 1,868 2,471
TOMA ..o e e 3,770 4,039
Short-term borrowings...................cceocevivin e $ 4347  $4,437

The weighted-average interest rates on total short-term
borrowings, excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings,
at October 31,2003 and 2002 were 2.3 percent and 2.8 percent,
respectively. All of the Financial Services” short-term borrowings
represent obligations of the credit subsidiaries.

Unsecured lines of credit available from United States
and foreign banks were $4,211 million at October 31, 2003.
Some of these credit lines are available to both Deere & Company
and John Deere Capital Corporation. At October 31, 2003,
$1,722 million of these worldwide lnes of credit were unused.
For the purpose of computing the unused credit lines, commercial
paper and short-term bank borrowings, excluding the current
maturities of long-term borrowings, were considered to constitute
utilization.

Included in the above lines of credit is a long-term committed
credit agreement expiring in February 2006 for $2,150 mullion.
The agreement is mutually extendable and the annual factlity fee
is not significant. The credit agreement has various requirements
of John Deere Capital Corporation, including the maintenance
of its consolidated ratio of earnings to fixed charges at not less
than 1.05 to 1 for each fiscal quarter and the ratio of senior debt
to total stockholder’s equity plus subordinated debt at not more
than 8 to 1 at the end of any fiscal quarter. The credit agreement
also contains a provision requiring Deere & Company to maintain
consolidated tangible net worth of $500 million according to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America in effect at October 31, 1998. Under this provision,
$2,400 mullion of the company’s retained earnings balance was
free of restriction at October 31, 2003. All the requirements of
the credit agreement have been met during the periods included
in the financial statements.

Deere & Company has an agreement with John Deere
Capital Corporation pursuant to which it has agreed to continue
to own at least 51 percent of the voting shares of capital stock of
the Capital Corporation and to maintain the Capital Corporation’s
consolidated tangible net worth at not less than $50 million.

This agreement also obligates Deere & Company to make
income maintenance payments to the Capital Corporation

such that its consolidated ratio of earnings before fixed charges

to fixed charges is not less than 1.05 to 1 for any fiscal quarter.
Deere & Company’s obligations to make payments to the

Capital Corporation under the agreement are independent of
whether the Capital Corporation is in default on its indebtedness,
obligations or other liabilities. Further, the company’s obligations
under the agreement are not measured by the amount of the
Capital Corporation’s indebtedness, obligations or other liabilities.
Deere & Company’s obligations to make payments under this
agreement are expressly stated not to be a guaranty of any specific
indebtedness, obligation or liability of the Capital Corporation and
are enforceable only by or in the name of the Capital Corporation.
No payments were required under this agreement during the
periods included in the financial statements.

17. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses at October 31 consisted
of the following in millions of dollars:

2003 2002
Equipment Operations
Accounts payable:
Trade PayablES ........o..cccveerieciens e e $ 912 $1,004
53 53
58 48
Accrued expenses:
Employee BenefitS ..o 349 282
Dealer COMMISSIONS ...vvivrivvrierrcvrreirrsisrssrersres e 97 225
Product Warmanties .........o.cer v 389 332
307 314
607 543
TOMA! v e e 2,772 2,801
Financial Services
Accounts payable:
Deposits withheld from dealers and merchants............. 175 153
234 260
79 65
153 177
641 655
ERMINAHONS ...vvvev e s 307" 314*
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ............. $3,106 $3,142

* Trade receivable valuation accounts which are reclassified as accrued expenses by
the Equipment Operations as a result of trade receivables sold to Financial Services.
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18. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Long-term borrowings at October 31 consisted of the following
in millions of dollars:

2003 2002
Equipment Operations™*
Notes and debentures:
Medium-term notes due 2005 ~ 2006:

Average interest rates of 9.6% — 2003

ANA 2002 ... $§ 45 § 45
6.55% notes due 2004 .........occoverivirne i e, 250
5-7/8% U.S. dollar notes due 2006: {$250 principal)

$170 swapped to Euro in 2003 and Euro and

Swedish Krona in 2002 at average variable

Interest rates of 2.7% — 2003, 3.7% — 2002........... 257" 2607
7.85% debentures due 2010 .....ccoovceeer e 500 500
6.95% notes due 2014: ($700 principal)

Swapped to 2.1% — 2003, 2.8% — 2002................. 771" 769
8.95% debentures due 2013 200 200
8-1/2% debentures due 2022 200 200
6.55% debentures due 2028 200 200
8.10% debentures due 2030 250 250
7.125% notes due 2031 ... 300 300
Other notes ....vvverr v, 4 15

TOMAL oot 2,727 2,989

Financial Services™
Notes and debentures;
Medium-term notes due 2005 — 2009;

(principal $2,696 - 2003, $2,616 - 2002)

Average interest rates

of 3.4% — 2003, 2.8% — 2002......co.ccevrreniirviriennns 2,714 2,628*
5.125% dsbentures due in 2006: ($600 principal)

$300 swapped to variable interest rate

of 1.8% — 20083, $600 swapped to

2.5% — 2002 ... e 632* 625
4,5% notes due 2007: ($500 principal)

Swapped $450 to variablz interest rate

of 1.8% — 2003, 2.5% — 2002.........ceovvervecvrirenrnn 511" 481*
3.90% notes due 2008: ($850 principal)

$650 swapped to variable interest rate

Of 1.7% — 2003 ..o 851"

6% notes due 2009: ($300 principal) Swapped to

variable interest rates of 1.4% — 2003,

2.0% = 2002 ... 329" 329*
7% notes due 2012: ($1,500 principal) $1,225

swapped to variable interest rate of 2.1% — 2003,

$1,500 swapped t0 2.8% — 2002 .....oo..cvvvvvvenionn, 1,665  1,662"
5.10% debentures due 2013: ($650 principal)

Swapped to variable intersst rate

0f 1.8% — 2003 ..o 641*

OtNBF NOTES ..o e e 184 86

Total notes and deDENtUTES ... vvvvvvrvivcenr e 7,527 5,811

Subordinated debt:
8-5/8% subordinated debentures due 2019................. 150 150

TOMAL e 7,877 5,961

Long-term borrowings ... $10,404  $8,950

* Includes fair value adjustments related to interest rate swaps.
** All interest rates are as of year end.

All of the Financial Services’ long-term borrowings
represent obligations of the credit subsidiaries.
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The approximate amounts of the Equipment Operations’
long-term borrowings maturing in each of the next five years in
millions of dollars are as follows: 2004 — $263, 2005 — $28,

2006 — $273, 2007 — 81 and 2008 — none. The approximate
amounts of the credit subsidiaries’ longzterm borrowings maturing
in each of the next five years in millions of dollars are as follows:
2004 — $1,868, 2005 — $1,414, 2006 — $1,706, 2007 — $816 and
2008 — $874.

19. LEASES

At October 31, 2003, future minimum lease payments under capital
leases totaled $18 million. Total rental expense for operating leases
was $98 million in 2003, $95 million in 2002 and $90 million

in 2001. At October 31, 2003, future minimum lease payments
under operating leases amounted to $356 million as follows:

2004 — $85, 2005 - $57, 2006 - $39, 2007 - $52, 2008 - $19

and later years $104. See Note 20 for operating leases with
residual value guarantees.

20. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contingencies

The company generally determines its total warranty liability by
applying historical claims rate experience to the estimated amount
of equipment that has been sold and is still under warranty based
on dealer inventories and retail sales. The historical claims rate is
primarily determined by a review of five-year claims costs and
current quality developments.

A reconciliation of the changes in the warranty liability in
millions of dollars follows:

Warranty Liability

Beginning balance at October 31, 2002.........ccccovevnnene. $ 332
PAYMENTS .o e (321)
Accruals for warranties ... oo 378
Ending balance at October 31,2003 ........ccccvvvevvevrinnnnn, $ 389

The company has guaranteed certain recourse obligations on
financing receivables that it has sold. If the receivables sold are not
collected, the company would be required to cover those losses
up to the amount of its recourse obligation. At October 31, 2003,
the maximum amount of exposure to losses under these
agreements was $238 million, which is net of accrued losses of
$21 million related to these agreements. The company may
recover a portion of any required payments incurred under these
agreements from the repossession of the equipment collateralizing
the receivables, At October 31, 2003, the maximum remaining
term of the receivables guaranteed was approximately six years.

The company has a 41 percent ownership interest in
Nortrax, Inc. and a 40 percent ownership interest in Nortrax
Investments, Inc., in which the majority owners have put options
to require the company to purchase their interests. These puts
could be exercised over a two-year period which begins
December 2004 to March 2005 and total approximately §170
million to $250 million, depending on whether they are
exercised on the first or last day of the period. If the company’s
rating on its senior unsecured debt falls below Baa3 from Moody’s
[nvestors Service or BBB- from Standard & Poor’, these puts
could be exercised immediately for approximately $150 million.




The company’s debt ratings are above this level. The company
also his call options to acquire the majority owners’ interests.
These calls can be exercised over a two-year period beginning
December 2003 to March 2004 and total approximately $165
million to $260 million, depending on whether they are exercised
on the first or last day of the period. At October 31, 2003, the
company had accrued the probable costs of $114 million under
these option agreements. In December 2003, the company
exercised certain call options for $112 million and purchased

an additional interest in Nortrax, Inc. increasing the company’s
ownership to 83 percent (see Notes 1 and 28). After these call
options were exercised, the call and put options for the remaining
minority ownership of Nortrax, Inc. and the majority ownership of
Nortrax Investments, Inc. ranged from approximately $55 million
to $85 million, depending on when they are exercised over the
two-year period beginning March 2004 for the call options and
March 2005 for the put options.

At October 31, 2003, the company had guaranteed
approximately $80 million of residual values for five operating
leases related to certain administrative and manufacturing buildings.
The company is obligated at the end of each lease term to pay
to the lessor any reduction in market value of the leased property
up to the guaranteed residual value. The company recognizes the
expense for these future estimated lease payments over the terms
of the operating leases and had accrued expenses of $15 million
related to these agreements at October 31, 2003. The leases have
terms expiring from 2004 to 2007.

At October 31, 2003, the company had approximately
$70 million of guarantees issued primarily to overseas banks related
to third-party receivables for the retail financing of John Deere -
equipment. The company may recover a portion of any required
payments incurred under these agreements from repossession of
the equipment collateralizing the receivables. At October 31, 2003,
the company had accrued losses of approximately $1 million
under these agreements. The maximum remaining term of the
receivables guaranteed at October 31, 2003 was approximately
seven years.

The company also had other miscellaneous contingent
liabilities totaling approximately $35 million at October 31, 2003,
for which it believes the probability for payment is remote.

The company is subject to various unresolved legal actions
which arise in the normal course of its business, the most prevalent
of which relate to product liability (including asbestos related
Lability), retail credit, software licensing, patent and trademark
matters. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the
outcome of these unresolved legal actions or the ringe of possible
loss, the company believes these unresolved legal actions will not
have a material effect on its financial statements.

Commitments

At October 31,2003, the company had commitments of
approximately $74 million for construction and acquisition of
property and equipment. The company had pledged assets of
$12 mullion, primarily outside the United States, as collateral
for borrowings, and $17 million of restricted investments related
to conducting the health care business in various states at
October 31, 2003.
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John Deere B.V, located in the Netherlands, is a consolidated
indirect wholly-owned finance subsidiary of the company. The debt
securities of John Deere B.V, including those which are registered
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, are
tully and unconditionally guaranteed by the company.

21, CAPITAL STOCK

Changes in the common stock account in 2001, 2002 and 2003
in millions were as follows:

Number of

Shares Issued  Amount
Balance at October 31, 2000 ... 266.0 $1,864
Acquisition Of @ DUSINESS ..v..cvereivvvereiee e 22 81
010 ST OO 4
Balance at October 31, 2001 ... 268.2 1,949
01271 SO O PR 8
Balance at October 31, 2002 .vcvvcvvveieiiencvviivne 268.2 1,957
OHNE v e e e e 3
Balance at October 31,2003................ccco...... 268.2 $1,988

The number of common shares the company is authorized
to issue is 600 million and the number of authorized preferred
shares, none of which has been issued, is 9 million.

A reconciliation of basic and diluted net income per share
follows in millions, except per share amounts:

2003 2002 2001

Net INCOME (108S) .o vevrrvveverrcoerrriennarieens $6431  $313.2  $(64.0)
Average shares outstanding...........ccceeeovven. 240.2 238.2 235.0
Basic net income (loss) per share........... $268 $ 134 §(27)
Average shares outstanding..........c.ccc.eu . 240.2 238.2 235.0
Effect of dilutive stock options ................... 3.1 2.7 1.8

Total potential shares outstanding............. 243.3 240.9 236.8
Diluted net income (loss) per share.... $ 264 § 133 § (27)

Stock options to purchase 2.8 million shares and 3.0 million
shares during 2002 and 2001, respectively, were outstanding, but
not included in the preceding diluted per share computation
because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average
market price of the company’s common stock during the related
periods. In 2003, all stock options were included.

22. STOCK OPTION AND RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS

The company issues stock options and restricted stock to key
employees under plans approved by stockholders. Restricted stock
is also issued to nonemployee directors under a plan approved by
stockholders. Options are generally awarded with the exercise price
equal to the market price and become exercisable in one to three
years after grant. Certain other options have been awarded with
the exercise prices greater than the market price and become
exercisable in one year or longer after grant, depending on the
achievement of company performance goals. Options generally
expire 10 years after the date of grant. According to these plans at
October 31,2003, the company is authorized to grant an additional
12.8 million shares related to stock options or restricted stock.




During the last three fiscal years, shares under option in
millions were as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares  Price* Shares Price* Shares Price”
Outstanding at
beginning of year..... 22.9 $4158 205 $4056 167 $39.77
Granted —at market.... 3.9 4580 43 4230 45 41,98
Exercised.......c....co.o... (48 3630 (16) 3035 (6 2894
Expired or forfeited..... (8 6868 (3 4182 (1) 4280
Outstanding at
end of year.............. 21.2 4257 229 41,58 20.5 40.56
Exercisable at
end of year.............. 131 4180 129 39.28 14.8 38.28

* Welighted-averages

Options outstanding and exercisable in millions at
October 31, 2003 were as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Remaining

Range of Contractual  Exercise Exercise
Exercise Prices Shares  Life (yrg)*  Price” Shares  Price”
$21.02 -$3419 ..... 27 3.66 $31.43 27  $31.43
$36.37 —$41.47 ..., 39 6.05 41.23 37 41.36
$42.07 - $47.36 ..., 12.5 7.74 43.35 4.8 42.34
$50.97 - $56.50 ..., 2.1 4.40 5475 2.1 54.75
Total o 21.2 131

* Welighted-averages

In 2003, 2002, and 2001, the company granted 196,294,
12,711 and 44,001 shares of restricted stock with weighted-
average fair values of $45.29, $48.43 and $41.96 per share,
respectively. The total compensation expense for the restricted
stock plans, which is being amortized over the restricted periods,
was $4 million, $2 and none in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The amortization in 2001 was offset by decreases in estimates of
restricted stock to be issued.

23. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE AND SAVINGS PLANS

The company maintains the following sigmificant plans for eligible
United States employees:

John Deere Savings and Investment Plan, for salaried employees
John Deere Stock Purchase Plan, for salaried employees
John Deere Tax Deferred Savings Plan, for wage employees

Company contribugions under these plans were $25 million
in 2003, $21 million in 2002 and $34 million in 2001.
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24, OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INGOME ITEMS

Other comprehensive income items under FASB Statement

No. 130 are transactions recorded in stockholders’ equity during
the vear, excluding net income and transactions with stockholders.
Following are the items included in other comprehensive income
(loss) and the related tax effects in millions of dollars:

Before  Tax After
Tax (Expense) Tax
Amount Credit Amount
2001
Minimum pension liability adjustment ........... $ ) § 3 $ (B
Cumulative translation adjustment................ 63) (63)
Unrealized loss on derivatives:
Hedging 108 ..o (155) 55 (100)
Reclassification of realized
0SS 10 NEL INCOME .. evevvvivver v 43 (15) 28
Net unrealized 108S........cccovvvviiviviviecinnnrinn, (112 40 72)
Unrealized holding gain and net gain on
INVESIMENTS™ ..covt e s 6 @ 4
Total other comprehensive I0SS ...c...vv.vvonnoen, $(180) $ 41 $(139)
2002
Minimum pension liability adjustment ........... $(1,620) $ 604  $(1,016)
Cumulative translation adjustment (8) (8)
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives:
Hedging 108S......covevr e, ®61) 21 (40)
Reclassification of realized
1083 t0 NEL INCOME ....evevvviierice i 99 (34) 65
Net unrealized gain .......ccovcveeerrivcrennins 38 (13) 25
Unrealized holding gain and net gain on
INVESIMENS™ e s 2 (1) 1
Total other comprehensive ioss $(1,588 $ 590 $ (998)
2003
Minimum pension liability adjustment ........... $ @72 $ 26 ¢ (46
Cumulative translation adjustment ............... 210 4 214
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives:
Hedging 10SS......c.over e @1 14 27
Reclassification of realized
0SS t0 NELINCOME ....cvvvvvvever e 79 27 52
Net unrealized gain ........co.coovveiveenes 38 (13) 25
Unrealized holding gain and net gain on
INVESTMENES™ .. et e 9 3 6
Total other comprefiensive INCOME ................. $185 §$§ 14 $ 199

" Reclassification of realized gains or losses to net income were not material.




25, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial instruments which do not approximate
the carrying values in the financial statements at October 31 in
millions of dollars follow:

2003 2002
Carrying Fair  Carrying  Fair
Value  Value Value  Value

Financing receivables .........c..coovvcoivvee. $9974 $9,994 $9,068 $9,111

Long-term borrowings
Equipment Operations
Financial Services

$2,727 $3,109 $2983% $3,319
7677 7687 5961 6,081

$10,404 $10,796 $8,950 $9,400

Fair Value Estimates

Fair values of the long-term financing receivables with fixed rates
were based on the discounted values of their related cash flows

at current market interest rates. The fair values of the remaining
financing receivables approximated the carrying amounts.

Fair values of long-term borrowings with fixed rates were
based on the discounted values of their related cash flows at
current market interest rates. Certain long-term borrowings have
been swapped to current variable interest rates. The carrying
values of these long-term borrowings include adjustments related
to fair value hedges.

Derivatives ,
It is the company’s policy that derivative transactions are executed
only to manage exposures arising in the normal course of business
and not for the purpose of creating speculative positions or trading.
The company’s credit operations manage the relationship of the
types and amounts of their funding sources to their receivable and
lease portfolio in an effort to diminish risk due to interest rate
and foreign currency fluctuations, while responding to favorable
financing opportunities. The company also has foreign currency
exposures at some of its foreign and domestic operations related
to buying, selling and financing in currencies other than the

local currencies.

Interest Rate Swaps
The company enters into interest rate swap agreements primarily
to more closely match the fixed or floating interest rates of the
credit operations’ borrowings to those of the assets being funded.
Certain interest rate swaps were designated as hedges of
future cash flows from commercial paper and variable interest rate
borrowings. The effective portion of the fair value gains or losses
on these cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive
income and subsequently reclassified into interest expense as
payments are accrued and the swaps approach maturity.
These amounts offset the effects of interest rate changes on the
related borrowings. The amount of the loss recorded in other
comprehensive income at October 31, 2003 that is expected to
be reclassified to earnings in the next 12 months if interest rates
remain unchanged is approximately $17 million after-tax.
These swaps mature in up to 55 months.
Certain interest rate swaps were designated as fair value
hedges of fixed-rate, long-term borrowings. The effective portion
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of the fair value gains or losses on these swaps were offset by fair
value adjustments in the underlying borrowings.

Any ineffective portions of the gains or losses on all cash
flow and fair value interest rate swaps designated as hedges were
recognized immediately in interest expense and were not material.
The amounts of gains or losses reclassified from unrealized in
other comprehensive income to realized in earnings as a result
of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges were not material.
There were no components of cash flow or fair value hedges
that were excluded from the assessment of effectiveness.

The company has certain interest rate swap agreements that
are not designated as hedges under FASB Statement No. 133 and
the fair value gains or losses are recognized directly in earnings.
These instruments relate to swaps that are used to facilitate
securitization transactions and certain borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts, Swaps and Options
The company has entered into foreign exchange forward contracts,
swaps and purchased options in order to manage the currency
exposure of certain receivables, liabilities, borrowings and expected
inventory purchases. These derivatives were not designated as
hedges under FASB Statement No. 133.The fair value gains or
losses from these foreign currency derivatives are recognized
directly in earnings, generally offsetting the foreign exchange
gains or losses on the exposures being managed.

The company has designated cross currency interest rate swaps
as fair value hedges of certain long-term borrowings. The effective
portion of the fair value gains or losses on these swaps are offset
by fair value adjustments in the underlying borrowings and the
ineffectiveness was not material. The company has also designated
foreign exchange forward contracts and currency swaps as cash
flow hedges of long-term borrowings. The effective portion of
the fair value gains or losses on these forward contracts and swaps
is recorded in other comprehensive income and subsequently
reclassified into earnings as payments are accrued and these
instruments approach maturity. This will offset the exchange rate
effects on the borrowing being hedged and the ineffectiveness
was not material,

26. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

For purposes of the statement of consolidated cash flows, the
company considers investments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Substantially all of the
company’s short-term borrowings, excluding the current maturities
of long-term borrowings, mature within three months or less.

In 2001, the Equipment Operations cash flows from
operations had a significant positive cash flow included in their
change in receivables related to the sale of most of the existing
balance of trade receivables to Financial Services (see Notes §
and 29). The Financial Services cash flows from investing activities
had an offsetting cash outflow included in their cost of receivables
acquired. In 2002 and 2003, the Equipment Operations continued
to sell most of their trade receivables to Financial Services.

These intercompany cash flows were eliminated in the
consolidated cash flows in all three years.




Cash payments for interest and income taxes consisted of

the following in millions of dollars:
' ' 2003 2002 2001

Interest:
Equipment Operations.........c..cccovecvevivvervveervrenn o $ 354 $312% $220
Financial SErvices .......c........ 416 413 540
Intercompany eliminations (226 (187 (34)
Consolidated ........................ $ 544 $538 $726
“Income taxes:

Equipment OperationS..........cccccevvromercvveeniinsnnnnnn, $ 74 $188 $119

Financial Services 152 131 61
Intercompany eliminations (142) (118) (48
Consolidated .........................cccc.coocvvvcrnriniiienrionnns $ 8 $201 $132

* Includes interest compensation to Financial Services for financing trade receivables.

27. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA FOR THE YEARS
ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001

The company’s operations are organized and reported in four
major business segments described as follows:

The agricultural equipment segment manufactures and
distributes a full line of farm equipment and service parts —
including tractors; combine, cotton and sugarcane harvesters;
tillage, seeding and soil preparation machinery; sprayers; hay and
forage equipment; material handling equipment; and integrated
agricultural management systems technology.

The commercial and consumer equipment segment
manufactures and distributes equipment and service parts for
commercial and residential uses — including small tractors for lawn,
garden, commercial and utility purposes; walk-behind mowers;
golf course equipment; utility vehicles; landscape and irrigation
equipment; and other outdoor power products.

The construction and forestry segment manufactures,
distributes to dealers and sells at retail a broad range of machines
and service parts used in construction, earthmoving, material
handling and timber harvesting — including backhoe loaders;
‘crawler dozers and loaders; four-wheel-drive loaders; excavators;
motor graders; articulated dump trucks; landscape loaders;
skid-steer loaders; and log skidders, feller bunchers, loaders,
forwarders, harvesters and related attachments.

The products and services produced by the equipment
segments are marketed primarily through independent retail
dealer networks and major retail outlets.

The credit segment primarily finances sales and leases by
John Deere dealers of new and used agricultural, commercial and
consumer, and construction and forestry equipment. In addition,
it provides wholesale financing to dealers of the foregoing
equipment, provides operating loans and finances retail revolving
charge accounts.
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Certain operations do not meet the materiality threshold
of FASB Statement No. 131 and have been grouped together as
“Other” segments. These include the special technologies group
and health care.

Corporate assets are primarily the Equipment Operations’
prepaid pension costs, deferred income tax assets, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in the financial statements
in Note 29, net of certain intercompany eliminations.

Because of integrated manufacturing operations and common
administrative and marketing support, a substantial number of
allocations must be made to determine operating segment and
geographic area data. Intersegment sales and revenues represent
sales of components and finance charges which are generally based
on market prices.

Information relating to operations by operating segment
in millions of dollars follows with related comments included
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis. In addition to the
following unaffiliated sales and revenues by segment, intersegment
sales and revenues in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
agricultural equipment net sales of $61 million, $54 million and
$76 million and credit revenues of $209 million, $167 million
and $22 million, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENTS 2003 2002 2001
Net sales and revenues
Unaffiliated customers:

Agricultural equipment net sales .............. $ 7349 $6,738 $6,269

Commercial and consumer equipment

NELSAIBS ..o et 3,231 2,712 2,527
Construction and forestry
NELSAIES vveiiere e s 2728 2199 2,226
Other Net SalES vv.vvveve e 4 54 55
Total Net SAIBS ..o 13,349 11,703 11,077
Credit reVeNUES ....c.cv. v 1,347 1,426 1,439
Other FeVENUBS .....ovvveveveece s 839 818 777
TOt oo e $15,535 $13,947 $13,293
{continued)




OPERATING SEGMENTS 2003 2002 2001 OPERATING SEGMENTS 2003 2002 2001
Operating profit (loss)* Depreciation” and amortization
Agricultural equipment ...........c.covriceirrieneens $ 337 § 438 § 257 expense
Commercial and consumer equipment.......... 207 79 (165) Agricultural BQUIDMENE ...oovvcevercrins § 200 § 212 &8 204
Construction and forestry 152 75) (83) Commercial and consumer equipment.......... 69 81 89
Credit™ oo, 474 386 274 Construction and forestry ...........ocovvcvcernenns 60 82 76
01111 O 22 (12) (31) Credit 281 322 321
Total operating profit ..o 1,212 817 252 Other 14 28 28
BBt INEOME e 59 66 39 TRl vt st oo $ 6318 7258 718
INErest BXPENSE. .. vovv v @217) (223) (268) *Includes depreciation for equipment on operating leases.
Foreign exchange loss from equipment I
operations’ financing activities................ {12) (17 (15) Eqﬂ:,tg[::slc?,?::::da:;isl)ia%s
Corporate eXpenses — Net ..o (62) (66) (54) Agricultural equipment ..............co.... .3 ms ® $ @
Income taxes (337 _ (2%§) (18) Commercial and consumer squipment......... M
TOL., v (569) (498) (316) Construction and forestry ..o 12 (11) (10)
Net income (10S8) .............c....oocrve. $ 643 $ 319 § 64 RS @) )
* In 2003, there was no goodwill amortization and the costs or income for special OB ) @ @
items were not material. In 2002, the operating profit (joss) of the agricultural Total.cor s $ 93 (25§ (22
equipment, commercial and consumer equipment, construction and forestry and
e b S L300 v o i1 1 o enabl oerating asst
respecuvely, . s 10N Wi , y : i
aensdp$c14,er}clespectively, for a totarof $55‘%202002,aop%rating profei\t (loss) of the Agnculturgl equipment ... N § 2711 §2875 § 2975
agricultural equipment, commercial and consumer equipment, construction and Commercial and consumer equipment......... 1,295 1,324 1,542
forestry, credit and other segments includes expense for special items of $12 million, Construction and forestry ... 1461 1423 1,426
$24 million, $27 million, none and $9 million, respectively, for a total of $72 mitlion. (1= || 14,714 13,67 14,559
In 2001, the expense for special items was $97 million, $160 miflion, $83 million, OtNET oo, 388 356 385
$3 miII‘ion and.$1 million, rgspec}ively, for a tota] of $344 million (see‘Note 2). Corporate 5689 4119 1776
™ Qperating profit of the credit business segment includes the effect of interest T FT S ! ’ )
expense, which is the largest element of its operating costs, and foreign exchange TOAl oo $26,258 $23,768 $22,663
gains or losses. Operating profit of the “other” category includes health care
investment income. . -
Capital additions
Interest income* Agricultural equUIPMENt . .vcvv. v $ 230 $ 266
Agricultural 8QUIPMENE .............oeoresreerrrieenns $ 5 $ 7% 26 Commercial and consumer equipment 62 161
Commercial and consumer equipment.......... 4 5 16 Construction and fOrestry .cocovvvveiconnncrenn 59 58
Construction and fOresty .........coeoueevrviomen 8 7 14 3 3
CrBOI™ ..o e 1,000 948 869 4 12
COMDOTALR. .ovvvv v eer e e 59 66 30 Tl e $ 358 $ 500
INTEICOMPENY™ w..coceiriee s (226) (187) (34)
TOWL et $ 851 $ 846 $ 930 Investment in unconsolidated affiliates
. ‘ ) , , , Agricultural €qUIPMENE ..cocervoveririnrnres $§ 19 8% 208 29
3 Does not.mclude fmance rental mcpme for equlpment onloperlatmg leases. ‘ Commercial and consumer equipment......... & 6 9
:Ecé%%e; ;r;]tgrggg |2n‘come from equipment operations for financing trade receivables CONSITUCHON ZNG fOrESHY wovovovvrrroror, 167 145 156
Credit. oo s 3 7 6
Interest expense OHhBT v 1 3 4
Agricultural equipment”.........ccc...omeieiinniinns $ 133§ 94§ 1 TOl oo $ 196 $ 181 § 198
Commercial and consumer equipment” ........ 48 46
Construction and forestry*...........cooevvvivinnnee 19 18
Credit oo v e 437 443 530
OBT v et 1
Corporate 218 223 268
INEBICOMPANY™ ... e e (226) (187) (34)
TOW o e $ 629 $ 637 § 766

* Includes interest compensation to credit for financing trade receivables in 2003

and 2002.

(continued)
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The company views and has historically disclosed its
operations as consisting of two geographic areas, the United States
and Canada, and outside the United States and Canada, shown
below in millions of dollars. Operating income for these areas
has been disclosed in addition to the requirements under FASB
Statement No. 131. No individual foreign country’s net sales and
revenues were material for disclosure purposes. The percentages
shown in the captions for net sales and revenues indicate the
approximate proportion of each amount that relates to the
United States only. The percentages are based upon a three-year
average for 2003, 2002 and 2001.

GEOGRAPHIC AREAS 2003 2002 2001

Net sales and revenues
Unaffiliated customers:
United States and Canada:
Equipment Operations net sales (91%).. $ 9243 § 8,199 § 8,124

28. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly information with respect to net sales and revenues and
earnings is shown in the following schedule. Such information is
shown in millions of dollars except for per share amounts.

First Second Third
Quarter Quarter Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2003

Net sales and revenues $2,794 $4400 $4,402 $3,939

Income before income taxes............ 106 398 370 97
NEtinCOME. ..ovvverriir e, 68 257 247 71
Net income per share — basic .......... .28 1.08 1.03 29
Net income per share — diluted........ 28 1.07 1.02 27
Dividends declared per share.......... 22 22 22 .22
Dividends paid per share .........c....... 22 22 22 22
2002
Net sales and revenues................... $2,522 $3987 $3969 $3,469
Income (loss) before income taxes ... (63) 240 289 127
Net income (108S)....ccvvcreecrnierinens (38) 142 147 68
Net income (loss) per share

~DESIC ..o (16) 80 62 28
Net income {loss) per share

~diluted ... e (16) 59 61 28
Dividends declared per share........... 22 22 22 22
Dividends paid per share ................ 22 22 22 22

Common stock per share sales prices from New York Stock
Exchange composite transactions quotations follow:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2003 Market price
HIGN oo $51.60 $4380 $49.96 $60.75
LOW et $41.30 $3756 $4245 $4825
2002 Market price
i $49.98  $4918 $49.25
$41.10  $3750 $39.50

Financial Services revenues (89%j....... 1,861 1,950 1,937
Totalo e 11,110 10,149 10,061
Qutside United States and Canada:
Equipment Operations net sales............ 4,100 3,504 2,954
Financial Services revenues................. 165 127 100
Total oo 4265 3631 3,054
Oher TeVENUES ......ccovivveeeernier e, 160 167 178
TOMA e e $15,535 $13,047 $13,293
Operating profit (loss)
United States and Canada:
Equipment Operations.......c.....cc..cover... $ 38 $§ 170 $ (169
Financial SErviCES.....comvviirriiirennnn, 469 410 283
Total o 855 580 119
Outside United States and Canada:
Equipment Operations .......cc..ccoevevnne, 322 231 118
Financial Services.........cvvvvvveiivioenns 35 6 15
Total o 357 237 133
TOL e e $1212 $§ 817 § 252
Property and equipment
United SEAtES ....coovv e e $1,297 $ 1,285 § 1,407
Germany 241 192 155
MEBXICO...... oo e 215 217 189
Other countries ... 323 304 301
Total i, $ 2076 $ 1,998 $ 2,052
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At October 31, 2003, there were 31,089 holders of record
of the company’s $1 par value common stock.

Dividend and Other Events

A quarterly cash dividend of $.22 per share was declared at the
board of directors’ meeting held on December 3, 2003, payable
on February 2, 2004.

In November 2003, the company sold its minority ownership
in Sunstate Equipment Co., LLC, which 1s a rental equipment
company included in the construction and forestry operations on
the equity basis. The equity income in the financial statements for
the periods presented was not material. The gain on the sale was
approximately $30 million pretax and $22 million after-tax.

In December 2003, the company exercised a call option to
purchase an additional 42 percent of Nortrax, Inc. for $112 million,
increasing its ownership to 83 percent. Nortrax, Inc., which was
previously recorded as an equity investment in the construction and
forestry operations, was consolidated beginning in December 2003.




29. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATING DATA

INCOME STATEMENT
For the Years Ended October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
{in millions of dollars)

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS*
2003 2002 2001

Net Sales and Revenues
NEESAIBS ....voev st et $ 13,3491  § 11,7028 $ 11,0774
Finance and INtBrest INCOME........cv.ieevrriienivisieees e e 776 856 95.9
Health care premiums and fees
OthEN INCOME o1t e e e 1453 146.0 129.4

TOMAL v e s 135720 11,9344 11,302.7
Costs and Expenses
COSt O SAIES ...t s e 10,767.5 9,608.1 9,3918
Research and development EXPENSES ... ovvverienverienseereier s 577.3 527.8 59041
Selling, administrative and general eXDENSES . .....cocvvirienrarriens 1,284.7 1,153.5 1,295.3
INtErest BXPENSE......cvvveereerier i e 2176 222.9 268.9
Interest compensation to Financial SErvices........ocoviviinveier e 199.6 1581 9
Health care claims and COSIS.......ccivveviiinive e e
Other 0perating EXPENSES. ... .......ov.ovicrr e et 57.8 814 81.3

TOMAL .o e bbbt 13,1045 11,7518 11,628.4
Income (Loss) of Consolidated Group before

INCOMEB TAXES .......vovvvrvicrreeircrerirriseoerienrierereeeronsienerinns 467.5 182.6 (325.7)
Provision (Credit) for INCOME TaXES ..v.vvvveves e 162.4 104.2 (87.9)
Income (Loss) of Consolidated Group ......................ccco.coo.. . 3051 78.4 (237.8)
Equity in Income (Loss} of Unconsolidated

Subsidiaries and Affiliates

CrETit ..ot e et 3105 243.0 176.8

OHNIBT v et e 275 2.2) 3.0)

TOMAL vt e 338.0 240.8 173.8

Net INCome (LOSS)........cccoo.vviecrcie et $ 6431 $ 3192 § (64D

FINANCIAL SERVICES
2003 2002 2001

$ 14240 $ 14406 $ 13835
683.1 654.2 603.6
1453 167.3 a1.4

22524 2,262.1 2,078.5

466.3 510.2 4246
437.2 4431 530.8

536.1 5184 478.0
309.0 3703 346.2

1,748.6 1,842.0 1,777.6

503.8 4201 3009

1745 154.1 105.6

329.3 266.0 195.3
2 3.8 3.3)
2 A
4 (3.8) 3.2)

$ 3207 $§ 2622 § 1921

* Deere & Company with Financial Services on the equity basis.

The supplemental consolidating data is presented for informational purposes. The “Equipment Operations” (Deere & Company with Financial Services

on the Equity Basis) reflect the basis of consolidation described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated group data in the
“Equipment Gperations” income statement reflect the results of the agricultural equipment, commercial and consumer equipment, construction and forestry
and special technologies group operations. The supplemental “Financial Services” data represent Deere & Company's credit and health care operations.
Transactions between the “Equipment Operations” and “Financial Services” have been eliminated to arrive at the consolidated financial statements.
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29. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATING DATA (continued)

BALANGE SHEET
As of Qctober 31, 2003 and 2002
(in millions of dollars except per share amounts)

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS*

ASSETS 2003 2002
Cash and CaSh BQUIVAIBNES ... sttt e e s $ 40083 $ 26385
Cash equivalents deposited with unconsolidated SUbSIdIANES......cc..ccovvvviivrivcnienes 278.1 790.8

Cash and cash BQUIVAIBNTS ... e e 4,287.4 3,429.3
Marketable SECUMIBS .....v vt ettt
Receivables from unconsolidated subsidiaries and affilates ...........ccoccoerviiiveericneenn. 178.8 2201
Trade accounts and notes receivable - net 646.1 909.4
Financing reCeivables - NBL ... ... et 63.5 60.1
ONBI TECEIVADIES ... c.e e e 236.6 2791
Equipment on operating leases - net...... 11.9 12.4
INVENEOMES ... v e 1,366.1 1,371.8
Property and equipment - net 2,0429 1,963.4
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates .... 2,431.2 2,248.5
GOOAWIll ... 871.9 803.9
Other intangible assets - net.......... 252.6 90.4
Prepaid pension costs 62.0 49.6
OB GSSEES. .vvivictiee sttt r st 195.0 2081
Deferred income taxes . 1,590.8 1,576.3
DEfEITEA ChAMGES .. .o e cveer e s 784 734
TOUAL ASSBES ..........oovciiii ettt ettt b e b $ 14,3152 $ 132958
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES
SHOM-tEITN BOMOWINGS ....cvooveeese e et e st $ 5770 $ 3981
Payables to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates. ... e 96.7 79.4
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ............... 277115 2,800.7
Health care claims and reserves..... .
Accrued taxes..........cevveiivennn 2099 83.2
Deferred INCOME TAXES 1 .v.v.ieriees s ieeer et este et eb bt st st eee 115 9.5
LONG-1EIM DOIMOWINGS ...t o ettt et et st 2,7275 2,988.8
Retirement benefit accruals and other AbIIES ............cocovoviviiieie e e 3,919.0 37729

TOtAl HADIHES ... e e e s 10,313.1 10,1326
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value (authorized — 600,000,000 shares;

issued — 268,215,602 shares in 2003 and 2002),

AL STAIEA VAIUB. ..o et s e 1,987.8 1,957.0
Common stock in treasury, 24,694,170 shares in 2003

and 29,321,098 shares in 2002, @t COSE.......ccoovieiere e (1,141.4) (1,322.2)
Unamortized restricted SIOCK COMPENSALION .......vvvvvvrrriicrenrienrcinrconine e, 5.8) (17.8)
RELAINEA BAMINGS .....oovv ettt st 4,329.5 3,912.6

TOMAL o1ttt e e e e e bbb 51701 4,529.6
Minimum pension liability adJUSIMENt ..o e (1,078.0) (1,032.1)
Cumulative translation adjUSTMENT. .......e..eerireiinin s (79.2) (293.1)
Unrealized loss on derivatives (22.4) (47.0)
Unrealized gain on iNVESIMENTS. ..o v e e e 116 5.8

Accumulated other comprehensive iNCOME (I0SS) ... vveeerenrinrrersmeenmi s seenens {1,168.0) (1,366.4)

Total StockNOIRIS” BAURY ..o e e st 4,0021 3,163.2
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ EQUItY ..o $ 14,315.2 $ 13,295.8

FINANCIAL SERVICES

2003 2002
$ 3752 $ 1763
3752 176.3
2318 189.2
274.3 259.8
2,279.1 2,137.7
9,910.7 9,007.4
191.7 1473
1,369.9 1,596.8
32.7 349
38 7.7
2 2
2 4

6

339.4 374.0
3.2 18
22.1 20.6
$ 15,034.9 $ 13,954.1
$ 37702 $ 40392
419.4 989.7
640.7 654.9
94.1 9.8
16.6 42
137.2 1029
7,676.7 5,961.5
408 33.3
127957 11,8785
968.6 968.6
12777 1,195.9
2,246.3 2,164.5
15 (49.7)
(20.2) 45.0)
118 58
(7.1) (88.9)
22392 20756
$ 15,034.9 $ 13954.1

* Deere & Company with Financial Services on the equity basis.

The supplemental consolidating data is presented for informational purposes. The “Equipment Operations” (Deere & Company with Financial Services on the
Equity Basis) reflect the basis of consolidation described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental “Financial Services” data represent
Deere & Company's credit and health care operations. Transactions between the "Equipment Operations” and “Financial Services” have been eliminated to

arrive at the consolidated firancial statements. 42
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29. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATING DATA (continued)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(in millions of dollars)

Cash Flows from QOperating Activities
NEtINCOME {I0SS) vevvvvevrvreriennrcrimiinns e,
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to et cash

provided by operating activities:

Provision for doubtful receivables ..o,

Provision for depreciation and amortization

Undistributed earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries

and affillAteS ....oovvieie e,
Provision (credit) for deferred inCOME 1aXeS ....cv.vivvvievieircvvins
Changes in assets and liabilities:

RBCEIVADIES .v. v e et e

INVEITEONIES 1o s b

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Collections of receivabIES .......c...cocierieiieieeie e e
Proceeds from sales of financing recelvables
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketable securities...........
Proceeds from sales of equipment on operating [eases........co.ovee....
Proceeds from sales of DUSINESSES.....c..ioevvivevrienieniicnsernensiierns
Cost of receivables acquired
Purchases of marketable SeCUrties ......c.cooovvvevvcieceei e
Purchases of property and eqUIPMENT ..o e e
Cost of operating leases acquired
Increase in investment in Financial SEMVICES. ..........vvveicncerieinns
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired..........cooeericvrins
Decrease (increase) in receivables from unconsolidated affiliates ...

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings ........ocoocvcvvicneiine e,
Change in intercompany receivables/payables ........cooovevivicinrinns
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Principal payments on long-term Borrowings ...,
Proceeds from issuance of Common SIOCK........ccoviverriecriinrieiens
Repurchases of common StocK.........o.cveevveirvcnie,

Capital investment from Equipment Operations
Dividends paid ...

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash...........................

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents......
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year.................

Cash and Cash Equivalents atEnd of Year..........................

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS*
2003 2002 2001
6431 $ 3192 $ (B4.0)

179 6.5 10.4
341.6 394.8 389.5
(86.9) 156.2 (165.1)
19.8 (192 (229.4)
338.6 1167 21980
84.1 85.8 1365
(162.0) 107.9 2250
7.1 219.9 200.4
1,203.3 13878 27013
115 87 69.5
1 16 2.1
25 535
@2 (27.4) 2.6)
(303.4) (3545 (485.6)
2.8) 6.1 8.1
(700.0)
(10.6) ©3  (308.0)
9.4 80.3 66.7
(277.5) (2532)  (1,367.0)
(123.2) (3046 (2252
50.5 29.6 62.8
9.1 708.3 558.8
(19.0 (75.9 733)
1745 480 17.8
(4) 1.2) 1.3
210.5) (2089  (2065)
{1.8) (1.5) 29
(120.8) 193.8 130.2
53.1 23 (5.6)
858.1 13307 14589
3,429.3 2,098.6 639.7
$ 42874 $ 34293 $ 20986

FINANCIAL SERVICES
2003 2002 2001
$ 3207 $ 2622 $ 1921
88.9 154.2 1026
329.0 366.3 359.7
(4) 38 3.2
133 18.0 9
(42.5) 3.8 ©9.3)
(29.6) 4.2 169.5
5.8 (26.3) (104.2)
694.3 770.2 712.7
19,396.3 14,9923 7,068.2
19410 29678 1728.0
76.4 75.4 32.4
514.4 4936 389.6
(22,0115 (17.861.4) (12196.9)
(118.9) (878 75.7)
6.2 4.2 5.4
470.9) (481.8) (766.2)
@7 {72
(14.5) 541 (1739
(39.3) (79.5) 5.7
(732.5) 588  (4,001.4)
2501 (1,108.6) (281.3)
(563.2) (882.0) 10370
33038 38654 4,259.5
25237  (2695.1)  (2,045.2)
700.0
(247.9) (399.5) (10.7)
8.7
2191 (12198 36680
18.0 (7.6) 49
1989 (398.4) 3744
176.3 5747 200.3
$ 3752 $ 1763 $ 5747

* Deere & Company with Financial Services on the equity basis.

The supplemental consolidating data is presented for informational purposes. The “Equipment Operations” (Deere & Company with Financial Services on the
Equity Basis) reflect the basis of consolidation described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental “Financial Services” data represent
Deere & Company'’s credit and health care operations. Transactions between the “Equipment Operations” and “Financial Services” have been eliminated to

arrive at the consolidated financial statements.
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DEERE & COMPANY
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

Net sales and revenues. ......co.covverevirreierisneerne $15,535 $13,947 $13293 $13,137 $11,751  $13822 $12,791 $11,229 $10,291 $ 8,977
NELSAIES ..o 13,349 11,703 11,077 11,169 9,701 11,926 11,082 9,640 8,830 7,663
Finance and interest iNCOME ..o 1,276 1,339 1,445 1,321 1,104 1,007 867 763 660 548
Research and development expenses........cou..... 577 528 590 542 458 445 412 370 327 276
Selling, administrative and general expenses........ 1,744 1,657 1,717 1,505 1,362 1,309 1,321 1,147 1,001 908
INErESt EXPENSE .....iveveverer e 629 637 766 677 557 519 422 402 393 303
income (loss) before goodwill amortization ........ 643 372 (13) 526 264 1,036 978 828 713 610
Goodwill amortization — after-tax ...................... 53 51 40 25 15 18 11 7 6
Net INCOME (10SS) vcvvvievnrrcrimerieine oo 643 319 (64) 486 239 1,021 960 817 706 604
Return on net Sales ... 4.8% 2.7% (6)% 4.3% 2.5% 8.6% 8.7% 8.5% 8.0% 7.9%
Return on beginning stockholders' equity ......... 20.3% 8.0% {(1.5)% 11.9% 5.9% 24.6% 27.0% 26.5% 27.6% 28.9%
Income (loss) per share before goodwill

amortization — basic..............ccoeevvceeernieene, $ 268 $ 156 $ (05 % 224 $ 114 ¢$ 426 $ 38 §$ 318 $§ 274 § 236
Net income (loss) per share — basiC..........o.vvvenn, 2.68 1.34 (.27) 2.07 1.03 4.20 3.78 3.14 2.7 2.34
Net income (loss) per share — diluted................... 2.64 1.33 (.27 2.06 1.02 416 3.74 311 2.69 2.32
Dividends declared per share............c.cccoovivevee.. .88 .88 88 .88 .88 .88 80 .80 .75 68%
Dividends paid per Share .............ooeoviceveeivrnnns .88 88 .88 .88 .88 .86 .80 80 73% .66%
Average number of common

shares outstanding (in thousands) ................. 240,200 238,217 234,980 234,276 232,874 243,315 253,723 260,547 260,494 258,438
TOtAl ASSEIS...ovvvvveee e $26,258 $23,768 $22,663 $20463 $17,578 $18002 $16320 $14653 $13,847 $12,781
Trade accounts and notes receivable — net............ 2,619 2,734 2,923 3,169 3,251 4,059 3,334 3,183 3,260 2,939
Financing receivables — net......c..cccoovvvivcveriennnne 9,974 9,068 9,199 8,276 6,743 6,333 6,405 5912 5,345 4,502
Equipment on operating leases — net .................... 1,382 1,609 1,939 1,954 1,855 1,209 775 430 259 219
NVENTOMBS ..o e e 1,366 1,372 1,506 1,553 1,294 1,287 1,073 829 721 698
Property and equipment — net...........ccooc e, 2,076 1,998 2,052 1,912 1,782 1,700 1,524 1,352 1,336 1,314
Short-term borrowings:

Equipment Operations........c.cooceeeviiveieiivinnns 577 398 773 928 642 1512 171 223 396 54

Financial SErvices .....coovvciviecrceen e 3,770 4,039 5,425 4,831 3,846 3,810 3,604 2,921 2,744 2,583

TOtAl oo e 4,347 4,437 6,198 5,759 4,488 5322 3775 3,144 3,140 2,637

Long-term borrowings;

Equipment Operations ...........cccovriveriiennnns 2,727 2,989 2,210 1,718 1,036 553 540 626 703 1,019

Financial SErVICES ..oovvvivveriveie i 7,677 5,961 4,351 3,046 2,770 2,239 2,083 1,799 1,473 1,035

TOME e e, 10,404 8,950 6,561 4764 3,806 2,792 2,623 2,425 2,176 2,054

Total stockholders’ equity ......ccccooveviveicciierenae, 4,002 3,163 3,992 4,302 4,094 4,080 4,147 3,557 3,085 2,558
Book valug Per Share ..........ccovveiverionrninins e, $1643 $1324 $1682 $1834 $1751 $1756 $1657 $ 1383 $11.78 §$ 987
Capital XpeNGItUIES. ..o oo $ 313 $ 358 § 495 $ 419 § 308 § 438 $§ 492 § 277 $ 263 $ 230
Number of employees (at year end) ..........c.oeeve 43,221 43,051 45,069 43,670 38,726 37,002 34,420 33,919 33,375 34,252
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of company stockholders will
be held at 10 a.m. on February 25, 2004, at the
Deere & Company World Headquarters, One
john Deere Place, Moling, lllinois.

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR

Send address changes, certificates for transter and
inquiries concerning lost, stolen or destroyed stock
certificates or dividend checks to:

Deere & Company

c/0The Bark of New York

Receive & Deliver Dept. - 11W

P.O. Box 11002, Church Street Station
New York, NY 10286

Phone toll-free: 1-800-268-7369

From outside the U.S., call: (610) 382-7833
Internet: hup: / /wiww.stockbny.com

TTY: 1-888-269-5221

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT &
DiRECT PURCHASE PLAN
Investors may purchase initial Deere & Company
shares through The Bank of New York BuyDIRECT™
Plan. Optional monthly cash investments may be
made automatically through electronic debits. For
enrollment information or inquiries about existing
reinvestment accounts, call the toll-free number
above, or write to:

Decre & Company - DRP

¢/ 0 The Bank of New York

P.O. Box 1958

Newark, NJ 07101-9774

STOCKHOLDER RELATIONS

DCCTC & Com[)any VVCIC()IT](‘S J\'Our cormments:
Deere & Company
Stockholder Relations Department
One John Deere Place, Moline, IL 61265-8098
Phone: (309) 765-4539 Fax: (309) 765-5671

Internet: hup: / /www JohnDeere.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Securities analysts, portfolio managers and
representatives of financial institutions may contact:
Marie Ziegler
Vice President, Investor Relations
Deere & Company
One John Deere Place, Moline, IL 61265-8098
Phone: (309) 765-4491
Internet: huep:/ /www. JohnDeere.com

STOCK EXCHANGES

Deere & Company common stock (DE) is listed on
the New York, Chicago, and Frankfurt, Germany,
stock exchanges.

Form 10-K

The Form 10-K annual report to the Securities

and Exchange Commission will be available to
stockholders in January online, or upon written
request to Deere & Company Stockholder Relations.

AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, lllinois

Deere & Company 2003 Annual
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ROBERT W. LANE (22)
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WORLDWIDE CONSTRUCTION & FORESTRY AND
WORLDWIDE PARTS
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Boe B. Brock (25)

Senior Vice President, Worldwide Construction
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WORLDWIDE COMMERCIAL &
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Product Development
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Executive Vice President and President
Wholesale Division

Food Marketing Institute

trade association
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DI LR & C

DRIVEN BY GAINS IN COMMERCIAL & CONSUMER
EQuiPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION & FORESTRY,
JOHN DEERE EARNINGS DOUBLE FOR 2003,
EQUIPMENT SALES GROW 14%.

FURTHER PROOF OF DISCIPLINED ASSET
MANAGEMENT: [DEALER RECEIVABLES DECLINE
TO LOWEST LEVEL IN MORE THAN A DECADE.

BUSINESS ETHICS MAGAZINE NAMES JOHN DEERE
TO LIST OF LEADING CORPORATE CITIZENS FOR
FOURTH YEAR IN A ROW.

NEW AND UPDATED STS COMBINES EXPAND
GLOBAL APPEAL OF JOHN DEERE HARVESTING
TECHNOLOGY.

[NFINITELY VARIABLE TRANSMISSION (IVT),
INTRODUCED ON NEW 7020-SERIES TRACTORS,
BRINGS GREATER PRODUCTIVITY AND FUEL
SAVINGS TO FARMERS WORLDWIDE.

NEw 5020-SERIES FULL-FRAME TRACTORS,
MADE IN MANNHEIM, GERMANY, HELP DRIVE
SALES AND BUILD GLOBAL CUSTOMER BASE.

DEerRE & COMPANY

O

ONE JOHN DEERE PLACE

MTPANY 2063

JOHN DEERE

S R TR R

MoLineg, ILemNois 61265

{

¥
i

PHONE: 309.765.8000

PG HLIGHTS

EVIDENCE OF THE GROWING OPPORTUNITY IN
EMERGING MARKETS, 100 FOUR-ROW COTTON
PICKERS SOLD TO TURKMENISTAN,

CONTRIBUTING TO MORE-EFFICIENT PRODUCTION,

FORESTRY-EQUIPMENT PLANT CLOSED IN SWEDEN;
PRODUCTION OF ADVANCED “CUT-TO-LENGTH”
HARVESTERS MOVED TO JOENSUU, FINLAND.

JoHN DEERE CREDIT NET INCOME HITS RECORD
$311 MILLION, BOOSTED BY OVER §1 BILLION
GROWTH IN MANAGED PORTFOLIO.

PORTUGAL BECOMES 13TH COUNTRY QUTSIDE
oF UL.S. AND CANADA TO BENEFIT FROM JOHN
DEERE CREDIT PRESENCE.

TORREON, MEXICO, FACTORY BEGINS PRODUCTION

OF HIGH-PERFORMANCE POWERTECH 2.4L AND
3.0L ENGINES.

NEW 100-SERIES LAWN TRACTORS, SOLD THROUGH

BOTH JOHN DEERE DEALERS AND HOME DEPOT
STORES, DRAW THOUSANDS OF NEW CUSTOMERS.

Like d Degre

WWW. JOHNDEERE.COM




